Preclinical challenges for developing long acting intravitreal medicines

Sahar Awwad, Christin Henein, Nkiruka Ibeanu, Peng T. Khaw, Steve Brocchini

PII:	\$0939-6411(20)30132-6
DOI:	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.05.005
Reference:	EJPB 13295
To appear in:	European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biophar- maceutics
Received Date:	14 January 2020
Revised Date:	1 May 2020
Accepted Date:	8 May 2020



Please cite this article as: S. Awwad, C. Henein, N. Ibeanu, P.T. Khaw, S. Brocchini, Preclinical challenges for developing long acting intravitreal medicines, *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics* (2020), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2020.05.005

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Preclinical challenges for developing long acting intravitreal medicines

Sahar Awwad^{1,2*}, Christin Henein^{1,2}, Nkiruka Ibeanu,¹ Peng T. Khaw² and Steve Brocchini^{1,2}

¹ UCL School of Pharmacy, 29-39 Brunswick Square, London WC1N 1AX, United Kingdom ² National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, London EC1V 9EL, United Kingdom

*Corresponding author: s.awwad@ucl.ac.uk

Keywords: vitreous, pharmacokinetics, drug delivery, ocular, posterior segment, intravitreal

Table of Contents

1. Abstract	3
2. Introduction	4
3. Clinical need for longer acting therapies	6
4. Relevant intraocular differences between humans and animals	9
4.1. Anatomical and physiological differences between animal models	9
4.2. Vitreous composition and structure4.2.1. Hyaluronic acid (HA)	11 19
4.2.2. Type II collagen	20
4.3. Vitreous age-related changes	21
4.4. Effect of vitrectomy on intravitreal pharmacokinetics	23
4.5. Melanin	24
5. The need for experimental preclinical <i>in vitro</i> pharmaceutical models	25
5.1. Production of anti-drug antibodies in animals	26
5.2. In vitro models as preclinical tools to develop intraocular therapies	27
5.2.1. Adaptation of existing pharmaceutical models	27
5.2.2. Importance of flow in an <i>in vitro</i> model	28
5.3. Drug distribution after intravitreal injection	30
5.4. Replacement, reduction and refinement of animal use in intravitreal drug	21
development	31
6. Regulatory considerations	32
7. Conclusions	36
8. Acknowledgments	37
9. References	37

1. Abstract

The majority of blinding conditions arise due to chronic pathologies in the retina. During the last two decades, antibody-based medicines administered by intravitreal injection directly into the back of the eye have revolutionised the treatment of chronic retinal diseases characterised by uncontrolled blood vessel growth, e.g. wet age-related macular degeneration (wAMD), diabetic retinopathy (DR) and choroidal neovascularisation. Although intravitreal injections have become a commonly performed ophthalmic procedure that provides a reproducible dose to maximise drug exposure in the back of the eye, there is a need to minimise the frequency and cumulative number of intravitreal injections. Developing longer-acting intraocular therapies is one key strategy that is being pursued.

Pharmaceutical preclinical development of intraocular medicines is heavily reliant on the use of animal models to determine ocular tolerability, pharmacokinetics, biodistribution and drug stability. Animal eyes are different from human eyes, such as the anatomy, organisation of vitreous macromolecular structure, aqueous outflow and immune response; all which impacts the ability to translate preclinical data into a clinical product. The development of longer acting protein formulations using animals is also limited because animals reject human proteins. Preclinical strategies also do not account for differences in the vitreous due to ageing and whether a vitrectomy has been performed. Intraocular formulations must reside and clear from the vitreous body, so there is a need for the formulation scientist to have knowledge about vitreous structure and physiology to facilitate preclinical development strategies.

Preclinical pharmaceutical development paradigms used to create therapies for other routes of administration (e.g. oral and intravenous) are grounded on the use of preclinical *in vitro* models. Analogous pharmaceutical strategies with appropriately designed *in vitro* models that can account for intraocular mass transfer to estimate pharmacokinetic profiles can be used to develop *in vitro-in vivo* correlations (IVIVCs) to accelerate the preclinical optimisation of long acting intraocular formulations. Data can then inform preclinical *in vivo* and clinical studies. With the now widespread use of intravitreal injections, it has also important early in preclinical studies to ensure there is a viable regulatory pathway for new therapies. Knowledge of these factors will help in the development of long acting intravitreal medicines, which is rapidly evolving into a distinct pharmaceutical discipline.

2. Introduction

Blinding diseases have increased globally due to the rise in population growth and ageing. Diseases in the back of the eye/posterior segment, such as age-related macular degeneration (AMD), diabetic retinopathy (DR) and glaucoma, are leading causes of blindness worldwide.^{1,2} Approximately 10 million people over the age of 60 are affected by AMD, which exists in two forms; wet (wAMD) and dry (dAMD). Projected growth of wAMD, glaucoma and diabetic populations are expected to increase rapidly over the next 20 years due to the ageing population.³ Given the rise in obesity, a major risk factor for diabetes, the rate of growth in the diabetic population in the UK is estimated to be between 1-4% annually.^{4–7} The number of people with diabetes in China and India alone is expected to be 200 million in the next 2 decades.⁸

The intravitreal injection of antibody-based drugs that target vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has profoundly revolutionised ophthalmic medical practice for treating conditions confined to the back of the eye.⁹ At the turn of the 21st century, intravitreal injections were not routinely administered. There has been near exponential growth¹⁰ of intravitreal injections since 2007 after the introduction of the anti-VEGF drugs, pegaptanib sodium (Macugen[®], Bausch & Lomb) in 2004 and ranibizumab (Lucentis[®], Genentech) in 2006.¹¹ Globally, there are now approximately 20 million intravitreal injections annually that target intraocular VEGF.¹² The cause of blindness attributed to wAMD has been reduced by 50-72% since the introduction of anti-VEGF medicines.¹³

The need for repeated intravitreal administration is understandably difficult for patients, while posing potential risks for harmful effects to ocular tissues.¹⁴ While the eye is thought to be broadly a privileged organ, inflammation and immune-mediated reactions can occur when the eye ball is breached by injections.¹⁵ Frequent injections increase the risk of bleeding, infection, non-pathogenic inflammation (e.g. endophthalmitis) and retinal detachment, all which may lead to complete vision loss.¹⁴ Reduced compliance after the first year of treatment has also become evident,^{16–18} especially for patients that have not previously been part of a clinical trial.^{19,20} There have been efforts to use antibodies systemically to treat ocular inflammatory conditions such as uveitis,²¹ however, systemic administration requires high doses for most drugs to be present intraocularly, resulting in the exposure of non-target tissues and dose limiting side effects.² Systemically administered drugs, such as tablets, must overcome the blood-retina barrier (BRB), and this usually results in low intraocular drug concentrations, due to an inability to penetrate the BRB.

As important as intravitreally injected anti-VEGF therapies have become, with the ageing population there are also provision and economic burdens on healthcare providers that would be considerably eased if the cumulative number of intravitreal injections could decrease over the treatment period. Several anti-VEGF intravitreal injection schedule regimens have been described to try to decrease the cumulative number of injections over time.¹⁶ Combination regimens have also been described that could comprise a small number of initial loading intravitreal injections of an anti-VEGF medicine followed by the dosing of another anti-VEGF drug topically with eyedrops or with tablets by oral route. This strategy would be based on maintaining a clinically beneficial low intraocular level of VEGF to reduce the number of maintenance intravitreal injections over time.²² Low, reproducible vitreal dosing and systemic toxicities are potential limitations for these strategies.

The development of longer acting intraocular therapies is another important strategy to reduce the number of intravitreal injections needed to treat chronic blinding conditions. Compared to the situation at the turn of the 21st century when there were no effective anti-VEGF treatments, the regulatory pathway now is much more challenging as any new anti-VEGF therapy must demonstrate at least non-inferiority with current medicines. Increasing the duration of action of existing anti-VEGF actives as they come off-patent is therefore a worthwhile strategy, although new actives are being developed.

Of paramount importance is the need to develop dosage forms that avoid intraocular toxicity such as inflammation and tissue damage.¹⁵ The complexity of ocular anatomy and the physiology of the retina (e.g. the retinal pigment epithelium, RPE),²³ the nature of intraocular mass transfer²⁴ and the overriding need to maintain ocular tolerability³ present challenges not present with other routes for drug administration. Many of the challenges are uniquely associated with the eye as they relate to determining intraocular pharmacokinetics and maintenance of drug stability during the development of intraocular formulations that cannot suitably be translated to the clinic using animals alone.

The clinical use of anti-VEGF therapies has raced ahead of the preclinical pharmaceutical development sciences used to develop dosage forms for other routes of drug administration. Existing pharmaceutical preclinical *in vitro* models are widely used to aid in the development of dosage forms destined for other routes of administration such as oral, pulmonary and subcutaneous.^{25–28} Many of these *in vitro* models are described in national pharmacopeia. Preclinical *in vitro* models generally approximate one or two elements of a biological system of interest to determine relevant physicochemical and materials factors that can be correlated to optimise

formulation candidates. Simulated biological fluids are also often used with some models. Pharmaceutical preclinical models are frequently used as a basis to develop *in vitro–in vivo* correlations (IVIVCs) and extrapolations (IVIVEs).^{29–33} Some of the same pharmaceutical models (e.g. dissolution) are also used to ensure batch-to-batch quality control (QC) during manufacturing.^{34,35}

This review describes the challenges for determining intraocular pharmacokinetics during preclinical studies. Optimising intraocular pharmacokinetics relies on the fact that intravitreally injected formulations will reside and clear from the vitreous body, so there is a need for the formulation scientist to have knowledge about vitreous structure and intraocular mass transfer, which are also described in this review.

3. Clinical need for longer acting therapies

Intravitreally administered antibody-based medicines targeting VEGF¹⁶ that are established in the clinic are aflibercept (Eylea[®], Regeneron Pharmaceuticals) and ranibizumab (licensed) and bevacizumab (Avastin[®], Genentech, unlicensed). Ranibizumab is a monoclonal antibody fragment (Fab) that binds to VEGF₁₆₅ to block it from interacting with the VEGF receptor 2 (VEGFR-2). Ranibizumab displays better clinical efficacy than pegaptanib sodium, which binds to the heparin-binding site on VEGF₁₆₅. Aflibercept is an antibody fragment crystallizable region (Fc) fusion protein that was registered for intravitreal administration in 2011. Aflibercept is given at approximately 2 times higher molar dose compared to ranibizumab. It binds to two variants of VEGF and has been reported to have a higher affinity than ranibizumab. Aflibercept is administered approximately every 8 weeks, whereas ranibizumab is administered approximately every 4 weeks.¹⁶

These antibody-based medicines are large molecular weight drugs that diffuse slowly through the viscous vitreous body because of their size to clear via the anterior chamber of the eye.^{36,37} Smaller, lower molecular weight molecules (e.g. steroids) diffuse much more rapidly through the vitreous body displaying clearance times of hours to days rather than months. The introduction of antibody medicines with monthly or every other monthly dosing was instrumental in more widely establishing intravitreal injections as an increasingly used route of administration. However, with the chronic nature of many retinal diseases in our ageing population, it has become clear that there remains a need to further decrease the frequency needed for dosing by intravitreal injections.

There does not appear to be any difference in visual improvement between aflibercept and ranibizumab after a 12 month study of visual acuity.³⁸ A supplementary

Biologics License Application (BLA) has recently been granted for aflibercept for a three-month dosing interval based on data from VIEW1 and VIEW2 trials.³⁹ In addition to wAMD, these medicines are used to treat other conditions such as retinal vein occlusion (RVO), diabetic macular edema (DME), and diabetic retinopathy. Conbercept is another Fc fusion protein and has been approved in China and may enter phase III evaluation in Europe/USA.⁴⁰ The monoclonal antibody, bevacizumab, binds to VEGF and is a widely used, unlicensed formulation to treat wAMD. Bevacizumab has demonstrated efficacy in comparison with ranibizumab for intravitreal use from the IVAN and CATT trials.⁴¹ Ranibizumab and aflibercept are more costly per intravitreal dose compared to bevacizumab.^{42–44}

Brolucizumab (Beovu[®], Novartis) is a long acting protein therapeutic that has recently received Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval in the US for the treatment of wAMD.⁴⁵ Other longer acting protein therapies that are in clinical trials include abicipar pegol (Allergan) and ForSight VISION4's port delivery system (PDS) for ranibizumab (Genentech).^{22,46} Phase IIII studies (HAWK and HARRIER) showed 12 week treatment interval with brolucizumab, a humanised single chain variable antibody fragment of 28 kDa. A 6.0 mg intravitreally injected dose of brolucizumab has been shown to be non-inferior in the mean change in best-corrected visual acuity from baseline to an 8 week treatment interval with aflibercept for wAMD.^{47,48} Brolucizumab has recently been registered for clinical use and displays a small number of adverse reactions,^{49,50} which are gaining attention to ensure the incidence is comparable to other antibody based medicines.⁵¹ Abicipar pegol is a PEGylated conjugate of a type of protein known as a Designed Ankyrin Repeat Protein (DARPin).²² The CEDAR and SEQUOIA trials showed abicipar pegol at 8 or 12 week dosing to be non-inferior to Lucentis® 4 week dosing for wAMD.52 The PDS allows a continuous delivery of ranibizumab to the vitreous⁵³ from a non-biodegradable system⁵⁴ and is currently in Phase III clinical trials.⁵⁵ Phase I studies showed patient tolerance to the PDS including implant functionality and change from baseline in best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA).⁵³ Phase II LADDER studies concluded that patients did not require a refill of ranibizumab for 6 months.53

Low molecular weight drugs are more amendable than therapeutic proteins to be formulated into implants that can display prolonged action. Steroids are poorly soluble and inhibit inflammation, which facilitates their development into long acting ophthalmic implants. Long-acting steroid implants that are clinically available include Ozurdex[®] (Allergan) and Iluvien[®] (Alimera Sciences Inc.).²³ Ozurdex[®] (dexamethasone in poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA)) has been used to treat macular edema secondary to diabetic maculopathy, uveitis and RVO with peak

effectiveness at 3 months.^{56,57} Previous trials of intravitreal corticosteroids to treat DME have shown that levels of inflammatory cytokines are reduced, therefore, corticosteroids represent an alternative therapeutic option for patients with chronic DME. Iluvien[®] (fluocinolone acetonide in polyimide) is a slow-release and non-bioerodible intravitreal implant that releases fluocinolone acetonide at a concentration of approximately 0.2 µg/day into the vitreous up to 36 months.^{58,59}

Formulation strategies reported in literature to extend the duration of action of drug therapies include microparticles and microspheres,^{60,61} hydrogels,^{61–71} protein conjugation with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG),^{54,64,72,73} implants,^{74,75} liposomes⁷⁶ and affinity-based drug delivery systems (e.g. targeting ocular tissues).^{77–80} However, considerable care is required for many of these strategies due to the sensitive nature of protein therapeutics and the need to ensure there is no ocular toxicity.¹⁵

Therapeutic proteins are much different from low molecular weight drugs such as steroids. It is much more difficult to develop particulate depot formulations of protein therapeutics because of its propensity to aggregate. Stress factors, such as changes in temperature and pH, mechanical and freeze/thaw stress, can lead to protein aggregation, conformational destabilisation or protein unfolding.^{81,82} Humanised proteins can also cause an immune response in some humans. Humanised and fully human monoclonal antibodies, and other therapeutic proteins are less immunogenic in human beings than are non-human proteins (e.g. murine antibodies and nonendogenous protein scaffolds). Repeated Eylea[®] injections in wAMD, RVO and DME resulted in ADA production in a few patients; however, there were no differences in efficacy or safety between patients with or without immunoreactivity.⁸³ The potential for immunogenicity with Eylea[®] is low as the molecule contains only human sequences.⁸⁴ It is crucial to evaluate the clinical consequences of ADAs in terms of efficacy and patient safety.^{85,86}

The avoidance of ocular toxicity for any formulation is paramount. Ocular tolerability of formulations for the eye raises considerable concerns about the influence of intraocular formulations on ocular inflammatory and immune responses. Tolerability^{87,88} is an important factor to avoid complications, such as a rise in intraocular pressure (IOP), ocular inflammation, retinal detachment and endophthalmitis, which can occur following intravitreal anti-VEGF injections.⁸⁹ Outbreaks of endophthalmitis (a serious complication resulting in blindness) in 2011 and 2012 were reported from the use of bevacizumab that was compounded for intravitreal injection.^{90,91} A cohort study in the US showed that compounded bevacizumab did not alter the risk of endophthalmitis compared to ranibizumab,^{92,93} but it is clear that bevacizumab compounding is not regulated. Laws and policy

regarding compounding varies between countries (outside of the US and EU); which raises considerable concerns of about potential sterility. Sterile endophthalmitis has also been observed on rare occasions with the use of ranibizumab and aflibercept.⁹⁴ Part of these reactions may possibly be due to the lubricants in the syringes; stressing the importance of ensuring all components of the drug delivery are carefully controlled. However, it is now better recognised that many aspects of ocular tolerability can determined during preclinical development.¹⁵

4. Relevant intraocular differences between humans and animals

4.1. Anatomical and physiological differences between animal models

Animal models are widely used during preclinical drug development to estimate efficacy, pharmacodynamics, pharmacokinetics and biodistribution properties.⁹⁵ A range of opinions exist about the suitability of animals for determining ocular pharmacokinetics and biodistribution.^{96,97} Problems include difference in time for tissue analysis and cross-contamination of ocular tissue after euthanasia.⁹⁸ Different routes of drug administration can affect the ocular and systemic pharmacokinetics including differences in drug distribution amongst dead, anaesthetised, and conscious animal tissue.^{96,98}

Rabbits are most often used for ocular pharmacokinetics studies^{3,97,99} although other animals are also used, e.g. rodents and minipigs.¹⁰⁰ Non-human primates are generally only used during late preclinical studies. There are differences between each of the animal models^{96,101–103} and along with differences with the human eye that should be considered⁹⁷ e.g. anatomical, vitreous volumes, vitreous diffusional pathlengths and aqueous outflow (Table 1). Differences in vitreous diffusional path length and volume between species can result in inaccurate data translation to a human.^{96,104} For example, the half-life of ranibizumab is about 2.8-2.9 days^{105,106} and 2.6¹⁰³ days in rabbit (~1.0-1.5 mL vitreous) and monkey (~3.0-4.0 mL) eyes respectively. Though monkey eyes have similar vitreous volume (~4.0-4.5 mL) and viscosity to human eyes, the half-life of ranibizumab is 7.2-9.0^{107,108} days in human vitreous (**Table 2**). Similarly, the half-life of bevacizumab is 2.8 days¹⁰⁹ in monkey eyes and between 6.7-11.7 days¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² in human eyes. **Table 2** highlights the differences in drug pharmacokinetic profiles of some common intravitreal medicines i.e. aflibercept, ranibizumab, bevacizumab and triamcinolone acetonide in different animal models. Intraocular half-lives of intravitreal medicines can further be reduced because of vitrectomy or a medical condition such as retinal detachment.¹¹³ Efforts have been made to understand quantitative pharmacokinetics in rabbits⁹⁷ and rodents such as mice¹¹⁴ to aid in animal to human translation.

Species	Vitreous volume (mL)	Aqueous outflow (µL/min)
Human	4.0-4.5	2.5-3.0 ¹¹⁵
		2.8 (20-30 years) ¹¹⁶
		2.4 (>60 years) ¹¹⁶
Cat	2.4-2.7	5.0-5.9 ^{117,118}
Dog	1.7	5.2 ¹¹⁹
Horse	26.15	N/A ¹¹⁹
Monkey	3.0-4.0	2.8 ¹²⁰
Mouse	5.6 x10⁻⁵	0.18 ¹²¹
Pig	3.5	3.7 ¹²²
Rabbit	1.0-1.5	2 .0 ¹²³
Rat	1.3-5.4 x10 ⁻²	0.35 ¹²⁴

Table 1. Differences in vitreous volume and aqueous outflow between spec
--

Aqueous outflow from the ciliary body near the lens is the main cause of mass transfer in the eye.^{115,116,125–127} Aqueous outflow nourishes and removes metabolites from the avascular lens and cornea. The majority of aqueous flow passes the anterior hyaloid membrane and flows into the anterior chamber to exit the eye via trabecular and uveoscleral pathways. Upon intravitreal injection, therapeutic proteins such as antibody-based drugs will diffuse throughout the vitreous. Therapeutic proteins are large molecular weight and charged molecules, which are not permeable into cell membranes, so they will not be taken up by the retina and cleared by retinal-choroid-sclera (RCS) pathway.^{96,128–130} Instead proteins will clear anteriorly via the aqueous outflow pathway.^{105,112,131–133} Intraocular clearance of permeable low molecular weight drugs will occur both pathways, anteriorly via aqueous outflow and by permeation of the RCS. The wide surface area of retina for elimination dominates the anterior bottleneck between the lens and the ciliary body.¹⁰⁴

A concentration gradient from the front (i.e. aqueous humour) into the back (i.e. vitreous humour) will be developed for drugs that diffuse into the posterior segment.¹³⁴ The concentration gradient is shallow and rapidly reversed as the drug concentration in the aqueous humour falls.¹³⁴ The diffusional drive is inversely proportional to the square root of time. Therefore, small concentrations in the posterior segment will be present if a depot is placed in the anterior globe.⁹⁶ The short diffusional path length in rabbits will reduce the half-life by $1.7 \times$ and $2.0 \times$ for posterior and anterior clearance respectively when compared to humans.⁹⁶

Drug	<i>In vivo</i> model	Dose (mg)	Half-life (days)
Large molecular weight	ght drugs (e.g. protei	ns)	
	Human	2.0	11.00 ¹³⁵
	Monkey	2.0	2.20 ¹³⁶
	Monkey*	2.0	1.50 ¹³⁶
Aflibercept	Monkey	2.0	2 .44 ¹³⁷
	Rabbit	0.3	3.63 ¹³⁸
	Rabbit	1.2	3.92 ¹³⁹
	Rabbit	2.0	4.58 ¹⁴⁰
	Human	1.5	7 .85 ¹¹⁰
	Human	3.0	11.69 ¹¹⁰
	Human	1.25	6.70 ¹¹¹
	Human	1.5	9.82 ¹¹²
Bevacizumab	Monkey	1.25	2.80 ¹⁰⁹
	Rabbit	1.25	4.32 ¹⁰⁵
	Rabbit	1.25	~5.7 (0.82 weeks) ¹⁴¹
	Rabbit	1.25	6.61142
	Rabbit	1.25	7.06 ¹⁴³
	Rabbit*	1.25	6.99 ¹⁴³
	Human	0.5	7.19 ¹⁰⁸
	Human	0.5	9.00 ¹⁰⁷
Ranibizumab	Monkey	0.5	2.63 ¹⁰³
	Monkey	2.0	3.95 ¹⁰³
	Rabbit	0.5	2.88 ¹⁰⁵
	Rabbit	0.625	2.90 ¹⁰⁶
Small molecular weight drugs (e.g. steroids)			
	Human	4.0	15.4 ¹⁴⁴
	Human	4.0	18.6 ¹⁴⁵
Triamcinolone	Human*	4.0	3.2 ¹⁴⁵
acetonide	Human	20.0	29 .6 ¹⁴⁶
	Rabbit	0.3	2.89 ¹⁴⁷
	Rabbit*	0.3	1.57 ¹⁴⁷

Table 2. Differences in pharmacokinetic profiles of common intravitreal medicines between species

Note: * after vitrectomy

4.2. Vitreous composition and structure

The vitreous is transparent and is located between the lens and the retina with a weight of approximately 4.0 g (average adult human vitreous). Other properties include a pH range of 7.0- 7.4 (neutral), a refractive index of 1.3345-1.3348 and a density of 1.0053-1.0089 g/cm³.^{148,149} The vitreous helps in the maintenance and metabolism of the eye tissues,¹⁵⁰ protecting the eye from trauma, inhibiting angiogenesis, coordinating eye growth¹⁵¹ and regulates the shape of the eye during development.¹⁵²

The structure of the vitreous is based on a three-compartment complex: collagen-glycoaminosglycan (GAG)-hyaluronic acid (HA)-GAG-collagen, which was first described by Balazs.¹⁵³ There is a random meshwork of fine collagen fibrils of approximately 10 nm with HA dissolved and entrapped within the collagen spaces.¹⁵⁴

The vitreous consists mostly of water (98-99%) and other components include macromolecules such as GAGs e.g. HA, proteoglycans, glycoproteins (e.g. opticin), fibrillin).^{151,154–158} collagens and non-collagenous structural proteins (e.q. Immunohistochemical studies have shown non-collagenous molecules such as laminin, fibronectin, proteoglycans and glycoconjugates to be localised on the inner limiting membrane (ILM), which is the boundary between the retina and vitreous.¹⁵⁹ Fibrillar proteins help maintain the shape of the vitreous including its flexibility, strength and resistance to traction forces. Charged carbohydrates, such as GAGs, attract water and counterions, and swell to resist compressive forces.¹⁵² Each component has a role in the functioning of the eye and the vitreous (Tables 3 and 4). While there are many different collagens (Figure 1) and macromolecules in the vitreous, the major components of the vitreous body are HA and type II collagen (Table 5) with the presence of some soluble proteins (e.g. albumin, Table 5).



Figure 1. Types of collagen that are present in the eye. The most predominant collagen in the vitreous are types II (FACIT) and IX (FACIT) with traces of type V (fibril), VI (beaded filaments), XI (fibril) and XVIII (membrane collagen). Image adapted from Karsdal 2016.¹⁶⁰

Туре	Family	Gene	Location	Functions
1	Fibril-forming	COL1A1 & 2	Choroid, cornea (Bowman's layer and stroma), ciliary body (BM of pigmented and non-pigmented epithelium, vascular BM, stroma and ciliary muscle), iris (stroma, vascular BM and dilator muscle BM), lamina cribrosa, optic nerve head (central retinal artery and cribriform) retina, sclera and trabecular meshwork (corneoscleral meshwork, core of trabecular beams, BM of trabecular beams and cribriform layer). ^{161–165}	Expression of type I in early stages of wound healing.
11	Fibril-forming	COL2A1	Near developing ciliary body, iris, RPE, retina (inner and outer plexiforms), sclera and vitreous ^{151,163,166–171}	Maintains structure of vitreous
111	Fibril-forming	COL3A1	Choroid, ciliary body (BM of pigmented and non-pigmented epithelium, stroma and ciliary muscle), cornea (Bowman's membrane and stroma), iris (stroma), optic nerve head (central retinal artery, prelaminar and cribriform) retina, sclera,	Expression of type III in early stages of wound healing.
			trabecular meshwork (corneoscleral meshwork, core of trabecular beams, basement membrane of trabecular beams and cribriform layer). ^{161,162,165,172–175}	Provides tensile strength.
IV	Network	COL4A1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6	Choroid, ciliary body (BM of pigmented and non-pigmented epithelium, vascular BM, stroma and ciliary muscle), conjunctiva, cornea (Basement membrane and Descemet's membrane) developing long capaulo (ciliary zonulos) irig	Forms a 3D scaffold for cell adhesion.
			(vascular basement membrane and dilator muscle basement membrane), lamina cribrosa, optic nerve head (prelaminar, cribriform) retinal microvessels and capillaries, trabecular meshwork (corneoscleral meshwork, basement membrane of trabecular beams and cribriform layer). ^{162,165,174,176–178}	protective function against enzymatic breakdown.
V	Fibril-forming	COL5A1, 2 & 3	Basement membranes, choroid, cornea (Bowman's membrane), lamina cribosa, retina, sclera and vitreous ^{172,175,179–181}	Modulates cellular activities (adhesion, differentiation, migration, synthesis), tissue remodelling and provides tensile strength.
VI	Beaded filament forming	COL6A1, 2, 3 & 5	Ciliary body (vascular BM and ciliary muscle), cornea (Basement membrane and Descemet's membrane), retina (ILM), sclera, trabecular meshwork (core of trabecular beams,	Role in (posterior) vitroretinal attachment and mechanism of (posterior) retinal detachment.

Table 3. Collagen distribution in human eye (The vitreous is highlighted in green).

		basement membrane of trabecular beams), vitreous. ^{162,163,172,180,182,183}	Stabilises interfibrillar matrix in cornea and sclera. Helps organise and maintain the supramolecular structure of the vitreous gel.
VII Anchoring	COL7A1	Conjunctiva and cornea (Descemet's membrane and epithelium). ^{176,184}	Role in (posterior) vitroretinal attachment and mechanism of (posterior) retinal detachment.
VIII Network formi collagen	ng COL8A1 & 2	Cornea (Descemet's membrane), choroid, optic nerve head (central retinal artery and cribriform), sclera and trabecular meshwork (corneoscleral meshwork and cribriform layer). ^{177,184}	Important for endothelial cell phenotype.
IX FACIT	COL9A1 & 2	Ciliary body, cornea, ILM, iris, lens, sclera, retina and vitreous. ^{183,185}	Interacts with type II collagen and maintains the structure of the vitreous.
XI Fibril-forming	COL12A1	Central core of major collagen fibrils in vitreous. ^{163,186,187}	Adds support to the vitreous structure.
XII FACIT	COL13A1	Cornea (Bowman's membrane), limbus and sclera. ^{180,181,188}	Maintains corneal structure, transparency and lamellae organisation.
XIII MACIT	COL14A1	Ciliary body, cornea (stroma), lens epithelium, optic nerve head (ganglion cell area) and trabecular meshwork. ¹⁸⁹	Important for axons and myelinated oligodendrocytes.
XIV FACIT	COL15A1	Embryonic cornea. ¹⁹⁰	Helps maintain the interaction of fibrillar collagens with other matrix constituents.
XVI FACIT	COL17A1	Ciliary muscle. ¹⁹⁰	Helps maintain the interaction between other ECM proteins.
XVII MACIT	COL18A1	Cornea (vascular BM), ILM, lens and RPE. ¹⁹¹	Transmembrane component of cell-tissue interface.
XVIII Multiplexins	COL19A1	Cornea (vascular BM), ILM, lens and RPE. ^{163,191}	Helps maintain anchoring between the vitreous fibrillar collagens and the ILM; and helps inhibit angiogenesis
XIX FACIT	COL20A1	BM. ¹⁹¹	Provides structural support.
XX FACIT	COL21A1	Embryonic corneal epithelium. ¹⁹²	Interacts with collagen I.

XXIII	MACIT	COL24A1	Retina. ^{193,194}	Transmembrane collagen seen in cell culture.
XXIV	Fibril-forming	COL25A1	Cornea and retina. ¹⁹⁵	Regulates type I collagen fibrillogenesis.

Abbreviations: <u>BM</u>: Basement membrane, <u>ECM</u>: extracellular matrix; <u>FACIT</u>: fibril associated collagen with interrupted triple helices; <u>ILM</u>: inner limiting membrane, <u>MACIT</u>: membrane-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices; <u>RPE</u>: retinal pigment epithelium.

Table 4. Distribution of proteoglycans and macromolecules in the human eye (The vitreous is highlighted in green).

Name and types	Location	Functions
Amino acids		
Ala, Arg, Asp, Cys, Glu, Gly, His, Hydroxy Lys, Hydroxy Pro, Iso Leu, Leu, Lys, Met, Phe, Pro, Ser, Thr, Tyr and Tryptophan Val	Cornea and intraocular fluids. ^{165,196–198}	Influx transporters and neurotransmitters.
Sulphated GAGs		
(i) Chondroitin sulfate (Hyalectans)		
Aggrecan	Retina and sclera. ^{199,200}	Helps in retinal development and maintenance with multiple effects on neurite outgrowth and normal astrocyte differentiation
Biglycan	Choroid, retina, sclera and trabecular meshwork. ¹⁹⁹	Possesses a neurotropic factor for retinal cells and regulators of their differentiation
Decorin	Choroid, cornea, retina, sclera and trabecular meshwork. ^{199,201}	Possesses a neurotropic factor for retinal cells and regulators of their differentiation, and regulates fibrillogenesis.
Neurocan	Developing neural retina, ECM and optic nerve. ^{202,203}	Helps in the developmental processes of the CNS.
Versican	Bruch's membrane, retina and vitreous. ^{199,204}	Maintains vitreous structure by linking HA to other components; and helps in retinal development and maintenance
(ii) Dermatan sulfate		

	Choroid, cornea (sclera), optic nerve head and retina. ^{199,205–207}	Role in wound repair and fibrosis.
(iii) Heparan sulfate (Basement membrane	PGs)	
Agrin	BM, ILM and vitreous. ^{191,208}	Helps in the development of the nerve tract and optical pathway
(iv) Keraten sulfate		
Fibromodulin	BM. ²⁰⁹	Regulates fibrillogenesis by binding to type I and II collagen. Maintains collagen architecture
Keratocan	Cornea and sclera. ²¹⁰	Maintains corneal transparency (it is a major corneal proteoglycan).
Lumican	Choroid, cornea (Bruch's membrane) and sclera ^{209,211}	Maintains corneal transparency and possesses biomechanical properties of the sclera, regulates collagen fibrillogenesis and has pro-inflammatory effects; and maintains structure of Bruch's membrane and collagen architecture.
Mimecan	Cornea and sclera ^{199,212}	Maintains corneal transparency.
Perlecan	BM and trabecular meshwork ²¹³	Maintains endothelial barrier function.
		Stimulates endothelial growth and re-generation.
Syndecan-1	Trabecular meshwork ²¹⁴	Assists in cell matrix adhesion and cell growth.
Non-sulphated glycosaminoglycan (GAG)		
Hyaluronic acid (HA)	Vitreous, ECM and anterior chamber (and throughout the body) ^{215,216}	Helps in the swelling of the vitreous and interacts with type II collagen to maintain the structure of the vitreous ^{151,152} .
Others		
Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP)	Vitreous. ^{151,168}	-
Elastin	Cornea, lamina cribrosa and trabecular meshwork ^{162,217–219}	Provides connective tissue with additional resistance and recovery from deformation at low stress levels.

		Maintains corneal stability and curvature.
Integrin	BM and cornea ¹⁸⁴	Aids in the attachment of cells to the ECM and helps in cell signal transduction.
Kalinin	BM. ^{176,184,220,221}	Helps in keratinocyte attachment.
Nidogen-1 (Entactin)	BM and cornea. ^{222,223}	Interacts with other molecules in the BM, and connects networks formed by collagen and laminin together. Helps in cell interactions in the ECM.
Opticin (vitrican)	Choroid, ciliary body, cornea, ECM, iris, posterior capsule of lens, retina and vitreous ¹⁸⁵	Important in collagen fibril assembly. Prevents bundle aggregation of adjacent collagen fibrils. He;ps in the development of NPE
Prolargin	BM, ECM and retina. ¹⁹⁹	Interacts with heparin sulfate
SPACRCAN	Retina (IPM), ²²⁴	Interacts with HA and stabilises HA
VIT 1	Vitreous. ²²⁵	Collagen binding macromolecule, maintain vitreous gel structure

Abbreviations: <u>Ala</u>: alanine; <u>Arg</u>: arginine; <u>Asp</u>: asparate; <u>BM</u>: basement membrane; <u>CNS</u>: central nervous system; <u>Cys</u>: cysteine; <u>ECM</u>: extracellular matrix; <u>GAGs</u>: glycosaminoglycans; <u>Glu</u>: glutamate; <u>Gly</u>: glycine <u>HA</u>: hyaluronic acid; <u>His</u>: histidine; <u>ICAM</u>: intercellular adhesion molecule; <u>IPM</u>: interphotoreceptor matrix; <u>Iso</u>: isoleucine; <u>Leu</u>: leucine; <u>Lys</u>: lysine; <u>MMP</u>: matrix metalloproteinase; <u>Met</u>: methionine; <u>NPE</u>: non-pigmented epithelium; <u>Phe</u>: phenylalanine; <u>Pro</u>: proline; <u>PG</u>: proteoglycan; <u>Ser</u>: serine; <u>Thr</u>: threonine; <u>Tyr</u>: tyrosine; <u>Val</u>: valine; <u>VIT</u>: vitrin.

Component	Species and age	Concentration (µg/mL)
Hyaluronic acid (HA)	Human	65-400 ^{216,226}
	Bovine	430-555 ²²⁷
	Owl monkey	100-180 ²¹⁶
	Rhesus monkey	300-900 ²¹⁶
	Porcine	160 ¹⁶⁸
	Rabbit	14-52 ²¹⁶
Soluble proteins	Human (10-50 years)	500-600 ²²⁸
-	Human (50-80 years)	700-900 ²²⁸
	Human (>80 years)	1000 ²²⁸
Type II collagen	Human	300 ¹⁶⁸
	Human (15-20 years)	50 ²²⁸
	Human (70-90 years)	100228
	Bovine	60 ¹⁶⁸

Table 5. Vi	'itreous concentrations	of hyaluronic acid	(HA), type	II collagen and other	soluble proteins.
-------------	-------------------------	--------------------	------------	-----------------------	-------------------

4.2.1. Hyaluronic acid (HA)

HA is a key component in the vitreous and is a non-sulfated GAG. HA is a highly hydrated polyanion and a high molecular weight polysaccharide that consists of a repeating disaccharide of β -1,4-D-glucuronic acid- β -1,3-N-acetyl-D-glucosamine.^{229–231} Deprotonation of the glucuronic acid at physiological pH is the source of negative charge.²³² Space-filling networks are formed that possess lubricant properties and acts as an osmotic buffer.¹⁵¹ HA can have loops, folds, or turns regardless of its stiff coil configuration.¹⁵¹ HA and type II collagen are primarily responsible for the structure of the vitreous.²³³ Type II collagen fibrils are separated by HA, which prevents aggregation of collagen fibrils.²³⁴ It is suggested that the sulfated GAG functions as a 'glue' between hyaluronate and collagen.²³⁵

The hydrodynamic size of HA and its molecular weight also varies between species and can alter the viscosity of the vitreous (**section 4.3**). The molecular weight of HA is 2-4 million and 1.7 million Da²³⁶ in human and bovine vitreous respectively, where the latter is more polydispersed in molecular weight.¹⁶⁸ Porcine vitreous has also been reported to have a lower molecular weight and concentration of HA (including lower concentrations of total protein and collagen) than human vitreous.^{205,237} HA is also reported to not to be uniformly distributed throughout the vitreous. Low and high HA concentrations are present in the front (anterior) and back (posterior) part of the vitreous respectively¹⁶⁸ and it differs between species (**Table 5**). In a comparative study, uronic acid per millilitre (analysed by carbozole assay) present in sheep (124 µg) and goat (128 µg) vitreous were higher than human (96 µg) and porcine (76 µg).²³⁷ Goats and sheep have a higher amount of HA and chondroitin sulfate compared to humans and porcine vitreous.²³⁷

Research has been conducted where a long-acting therapy could bind to a tissue in the body to extend its duration of action.^{238,239} The same concept has been reported for therapies that bind to the vitreous.^{77–80,240} Natural human proteins have been reported to bind to HA with modest affinity. These include TNF-stimulating gene-6 (TSG-66), receptor for HA

mediated mobility (RHAMM), cell surface glycoprotein (CD44) and lymphatic vessel endocytic receptor (LYVE-1).⁵⁴ The intravitreal half-life of single-chain variable fragments (scFvs), Fabs, Fc-Traps and antibodies (IgGs) was extended by the incorporation of a hyaluronan-binding peptide (HABP) to increase the intraocular half-life.⁷⁷ The half-life of the HABP modified proteins increased 3-4 fold in rabbit and monkey eyes when compared to proteins not modified with HABP.⁷⁷ It was thought that a reduced dosing frequency could be achieved by the incorporation of HABP to bind to vitreous HA without requiring the need for loading doses (e.g. 3 monthly loading doses are frequently used for current anti-VEGF therapies).⁷⁷ Further research is ongoing to determine the effect of vitreous binding on drug exposure in the retina and its safety profile.^{16,54}

4.2.2. Type II collagen

Several collagen subtypes are present in the vitreous in a unique structural arrangement. Collagen belongs to the subfamily of fibrillar macromolecules comprising of three polypeptide chains α1(II) that form a compact triple-helical rod-like building blocks of collagen fibrils. Type II collagen accounts for 70-80% of the collagen that is present in the vitreous;¹⁷² and is covalently cross-linked in a "quarter staggered" array to form the major bulk of the heterotypic (mixed) collagen fibrils.¹⁵¹ Human type II collagen contains approximately 120 repeat units of Gly-Pro-X (X being any amino acid).⁷⁷ Type II collagen molecules are secreted into the extracellular environment to form a soluble precursor, pro-collagen II, which is processed by an N-proteinase and a C- proteinase. These enzymes cleave N- and C-peptides in pro-collagen to decrease collagen solubility with the formation of fibrils.^{152,168}

Other types of collagen (e.g. type V, XI and IX) and non-collagenous molecules (e.g. opticin, laminin and fibronectin) are responsible for stabilising type II collagen in the vitreous,²⁴¹ and are altered during ageing (**section 4.3**). The different collagen types are characterised by considerable complexity and diversity in their structure, assembly and function. Type II collagen (and XI) contributes to the fibrillar matrix of articular cartilage, where its stability and tensile strength provides structure to tissue. Type IV collagen is an abundant collagen found in the ILM and is a basement membrane collagen. Compared to the other collagen types, type IV collagen is a more flexible triple helix that is often assembled into meshwork structure.²⁴² The triple helix structure of type II collagen has a higher content of hydroxyl-lysine, glucosyl and galactosyl residues leading to a greater number of interactions with proteoglycans. Another collagen component found in the vitreous is type XI collagen. Although the α 3-chain of type XI collagen is encoded by the same gene as α 1-chain of type II collagen, the amount of glycosylation and hydroxylation differs more from α 1(II).²⁴²

The average concentration of type II collagen in the vitreous is 50-100 μ g/mL²²⁸ (**Table 5**), though some have reported slightly higher concentrations (150-300 ug/mL).^{77,168} Type II collagen is reported to be higher in the anterior part of the vitreous body (up to 30×) than the cortical part of the vitreous.¹⁶⁷ Balasz initially reported that new type II collagen in the vitreous is not synthesised after birth.²⁴³ Similar trends have also been reported for bovine eys.¹⁶⁸ However, another study has reported that a higher concentration of type II collagen was seen in age groups between 70-90 years (100 μ g/mL) as compared to 15-20 years (50 μ g/mL) human eyes (**Table 5**).²²⁸ Differences in collagen concentration can either be due to the area sampled or the age of the animals used for the studies.²⁴⁴

4.3. Vitreous age-related changes

Intravitreally administered anti-VEGF medicines often display interpatient variation. Some of the reasons for the variation are thought to be lens status, prior vitrectomy, baseline visual acuity, genetic factors, and type and duration of underlying disease. Variation is also possible due to ageing and other pathological processes that can disrupt the vitreous structure (**Figure 2**). The vitreous undergoes progressive liquefaction with age,¹⁵¹ where the HA-collagen complex often dissolves within the central vitreous body.²³³ There is a reduction in vitreous volume and the entire vitreous shape can collapse and lose its texture during degeneration.²³⁵ There is an increase in vitreous liquefaction and a decrease in gel volume post the age of 40 years. More than half the vitreous becomes liquefied by the age of 80-90 years.¹⁵¹ There is a progressive increase in fluid-filled areas (i.e. synchisis) and an increase in optically dense structures (i.e. syneresis). In both situations, symptoms known as 'mouches volantes' or floaters are reported.



Figure 2. Dark-field slit microscopy of age-related vitreous changes in fresh and unfixed whole human eyes. Vitreous body shown attached to anterior segment. Vitreous body of **(A)** 11 year old showing homogenous structure and minimal light scatter, **(B)** 56 year old showing aggregation of visible collagen fibres and **(C)** 88 year old showing thickened central body of collagen fibres, pockets of liquid vitreous called lacunae (white arrow). Image from Milston et al, 2016 with permission.²⁴⁵

The prevalence of posterior vitreous detachment (PVD) is reported to increase with the ageing population, which is seen in 24% of patients between 50-59 years of age and 87% of patients between 80-89 years of age.²⁴⁶ PVD separates the adhesion between the retina

and vitreous cortex (which is attached to the basement membrane of the inner limiting lamina, ILL),¹⁸⁷ and can result in intraocular haemorrhage, retinal detachment/tears and cystoid macular oedema.²⁴⁷ PVD is mostly associated with senescence and large amounts of liquefied spaces.¹⁵⁵ Progressive liquefaction does not occur in an uniform manner within the vitreous. Instead, there are pockets formed in the central vitreous where significant enlargement and coalesce are observed.¹⁵²

Type IX collagen molecules display an antiparallel pattern along the surface of type II collagen fibrils (**Figure 3**).²⁴² Type II collagen is shielded by type IX collagen, which avoids the fusion of type II collagen. The shield provided by type IX collagen is lost during the ageing process resulting in the fusion of type II collagen with adjacent fibrils on contact and further vitreous liquefaction. Other vitreoretinal disease processes can be modulated from the increased surface exposure of type II collagen and age-related loss of type IX collagen.¹⁸⁷ Vitreal collagen fibrils are coated with macromolecules (e.g. opticin). These macromolecules and HA can either allow for short-range interactions or prevent collagen fibrils from aggregating with one another. The decreased spacing between the collagen fibris and the collagen breakdown may influence the ageing changes and can lead to its uneven distribution within the vitreous.¹⁵¹ In addition, there is an increase in protein content that contributes to the ILM thickening and increases the size and aggregation of the collagen molecules in the vitreous base in ageing patients.²⁴⁸ Eye movements/saccades can enhance liquefaction by bringing the type II collagen fibrils together.¹⁸⁷



Figure 3. Structure of major heterotypic collagen fibrils of the vitreous. Image adapted from Bishop, 1996.¹⁶⁸

The selection of an appropriate animal model to replicate human disease conditions should take into account species vitreous variability and age-related differences as it

modulates the diffusion of various molecules (diffusion is inversely proportional to the viscosity of the media according to Stoke-Einstein equation).²⁴⁹ In a study reported by Shafaie et al,²⁴⁹ calculated diffusion coefficients of fluorescein sodium was higher in human eyes than bovine, porcine and ovine eyes with the animal species displaying respective viscosity values (at 0.1 Hz) of 0.9 ± 0.51 Pa.s, 1.6 ± 1.32 Pa.s, 12.3 ± 0.94 Pa.s.²⁴⁹ Vitreous degeneration will increase vitreous diffusivity and diminish the drug concentration gradient across the medium. A loss in the vitreous barrier function is noted with an increase in vitreous stirring caused by convective flow in the vitreal liquefied areas. Enhanced convective flow is seen in a liquefied vitreous.²⁵⁰ An unequal distribution of protein-bound drugs and free-concentration in equilibrium are noted when proteins accumulate in the remnants of the vitreous.⁹⁶ Drug efficacy is still overestimated despite numerous reports of vitreous liquefaction with age and disease; as pre-clinical intravitreal drug development is conducted using young laboratory animals that have an intact vitreous structure.²⁵⁰ Any model used to study differences in ocular pharmacokinetic properties in an ageing vitreous should consider the effect of liquefaction.^{251–254}

4.4. Effect of vitrectomy on intravitreal pharmacokinetics

Vitrectomy is the surgical removal of vitreous. Vitrectomy reduces the macular thickness and relieves the tractional forces exerted by a degenerating vitreous on the retina (**Figure 4**). There are over 500,000 vitrectomy surgeries performed each year, with 150,000 in US alone.^{255,256} Vitrectomy has been reported to improve visual acuity in diffuse non-tractional DME patients.²⁵⁷ A number of drugs i.e. triamcinolone acetonide¹⁴⁵ (TA) (**Table 2**), amphotericin B,²⁵⁸ amikacin,²⁵⁹ vancomycin^{260,261} and 5-fluorouracil (5-FU)²⁶² have been reported to show faster clearance rates in vitrectomised eyes. Differences in the clearance rates in vitrectomised and non-vitrectomised eyes would be expected to influence the clinical effectiveness of a drug therapy.

A study reported the half-life of ranibizumab to be 2.81, 2.13 and 1.79 days in rabbit eyes that were non-vitrectomised, vitrectomised and lensectomised respectively.²⁶³ In another study, TA showed a half-life of 1.57 days and 2.89 days in vitrectomised and non-vitrectomised rabbit eyes respectively.¹⁴⁷ TA was seen to decrease $1.5 \times$ faster in vitrectomised eyes.¹⁴⁷ Intravitreal injected TA condensed/accumulated into the small spaces in the gel-like spaces in the vitreous of the non-vitrectomised eyes and due to its high water insolubility its clearance was slower. Increased intravitreal circulation is expected in vitrectomised eyes as a drug would distribute evenly throughout the vitreous.¹⁴⁷



Figure 4. (A) Areas of high vitreous fibrillar density and adhesion (black lines), **(B)** vitreous changes seen in myopia, **(C)** vitrectomised eye and **(D)** gas or silicone oil bubble in posterior cavity. Image adapted from National Eye Institute, National Institutes of Health.²⁶⁴

VEGF concentration was investigated in vitrectomised macaque eyes after the intravitreal injection of bevacizumab.²⁶⁵ Aqueous humour samples indicated a shorter half-life in vitrectomised eyes, a decrease of 54% compared to non-vitrectomised eyes. VEGF concentration was below the lower limit of detection after bevacizumab injection and remained below that threshold for about 2 weeks until its returned to detectable levels between 2-4 weeks.²⁶⁵ Most of the pivotal studies of anti-VEGF drugs were conducted in non-vitrectomised eyes.^{266–268} Hence there remains uncertainty regarding the clinical effectiveness of intravitreal drugs in vitrectomised eyes due to more rapid clearance than in non-vitrectomised eyes. In most cases, vitrectomy is conducted due to complicated situations or advanced retinal diseases such as submacular haemorrhage, CNV or cataract extraction.²⁶⁹ Therefore, it is important to take these situations into account. Patients with DME may have undergone macular laser prior to receiving intravitreal anti-VEGF, which may reduce drug effectiveness irrespective of vitreous status.^{270,271} Better-designed studies with controlled confounding baseline characteristics are warranted to address this guestion.

4.5. Melanin

Melanin is present in some intraocular tissues (e.g. uvea and RPE).¹⁹⁷ Melanin is a polyanionic biopolymer and the most common light-absorbing pigment. Dark eumelanin and yellow pheomelanin are the most common melanin forms found in the human body.³ The RPE is dense with eumelanin; and the iris and choroidal melanocytes are packed with a combination

of eumelanin and pheomelanin.^{3,272} Melanosomes are organelles; and the site of synthesis, storage and transport of melanin. They are found in the iris, choroid, RPE and other parts of the body (e.g. hair and skin).²⁷³ Melanin within melanosomes of RPE cells also absorbs light scatter and is likely to aid in protection against photooxidation.²⁷⁴

Drugs can also bind to melanin (similarly to HA and collagen) affecting their pharmacologic and pharmacokinetic properties.²⁷⁵ Melanin is an important pigment (approximately 6-8 mg of melanin in human choroid-RPE)²⁷⁶ where drugs can bind to form a reservoir hence prolonging the residence time.^{24,277} A number of small molecules (e.g. β -blockers, celecoxib and chloroquine) injected intravitreally are reported to bind to melanin,^{273,278–280} however, protein binding to melanin has not yet been reported. Drug binding to melanin is also known to modulate drug response and distribution in pigmented tissues, with greater differences in total and free drug concentrations reported in pigmented than in non-pigmented cells.²⁸¹ Drugs like chloroquine have a high binding affinity to melanin,²⁸² however, the drug-melanin complex may result in retinal toxicity if taken in large enough doses and for prolonged period of time.²⁸³ Melanin toxicity can be a result of high drug concentrations in the RPE cells or by the alteration of melanin granules after drug-melanin binding.²⁸⁴

The amount of melanin differs between different ocular tissues, pigmentation strains or phenotypes and animal models.²⁷⁵ Durairaj et al reported the distribution and difference in concentration of melanin in human, minipigs, rabbit, monkey and dog models.²⁷⁵ A longer duration of action of topical atropine and pilocarpine was seen in pigmented animals than albino animals.^{285,286} The higher concentrations of pilocarpine needed to cause pupil constriction in a darker iris versus a blue iris with less melanin is an example of this possible sequestration of drugs in melanin. There should be careful consideration in selecting animal models and interpreting ocular pharmacokinetics for administered drugs that binds to melanin. More research is needed in understanding the pigment binding of drugs and permeation across the RPE.

5. The need for experimental preclinical in vitro pharmaceutical models

It is generally not possible to determine intraocular pharmacokinetics in humans because of the risks for adverse events with repeated vitreous sampling^{97,100} and difficulty in obtaining direct samples.²⁸⁷ However, when intraocular pharmacokinetics properties are sought, they can be determined by obtaining samples from either the anterior chamber or in some cases from the plasma. In the case of animals during preclinical studies, samples are often obtained from the vitreous, often by sacrificing a few animal species at each time point of interest. One-time sampling involves inserting a 20G needle through the outer canthus until the tip of the needle is inside the globe where suction is then applied to extract the entire vitreous humour.²⁸⁸ Curve-fitting software (e.g. Kinetica[®] or Phoenix WinNonlin[®]) are used to determine

ocular pharmacokinetic parameters.⁹⁷ It is crucial to have enough data points to be fitted to compare it to the observed mean values and individual points.^{97,99}

Techniques such as microsampling and microdialysis strategies have also been developed in an effort to obtain real time data over time from individual animals.^{289,290} Microsampling consists of obtaining smaller samples (10-15 µL) of the vitreous using a syringe (200 µL), and avoids large volume withdrawal of the vitreous and other ocular fluids.²⁹¹ Microdialysis has been reported to provide statistically robust data and reduces the number of animal models.²⁹⁰ The technique involves the use of an intraocular probe consisting of a cannular and a semi-permeable membrane to determine drug concentrations in the vitreous. Free drug molecules diffuse across the membrane into saline flowing through the cannula at a known rate. Drug concentration is measured continuously to help quantify intraocular concentration of the drug. The effects of anaesthesia and the breakdown of blood aqueous barrier (BAB) can also be monitored. A number of microdialysis studies using the rabbit as a model have been described.^{104,290,292-294}

5.1. Production of anti-drug antibodies in animals

Although obtaining pharmacokinetic data from animals is widely conducted, the administration of a human protein therapeutic to an animal will often result in intraocular inflammation and the production of anti-drug antibodies (ADAs) in the animal. The eye is not a perfectly immunologically privileged organ¹⁵ and after intravitreal injection, intraocular immune-mediated and inflammatory reactions can occur.¹⁵ ADAs can accelerate the clearance of an administered protein candidate²⁹⁵ and ADA generation²⁹⁶ in animal models is not predictive of immunogenicity in humans.^{95,297}

Rabbits, for example, are known to give robust immune and humoral responses to foreign proteins, limiting their use in preclinical studies.⁸⁷ Independent studies by Genentech, Roche, Novartis and Allergan confirmed the rapid development of ADAs in rabbit species following intravitreal injection of antibodies and antibody mimetics.⁸⁷ These studies indicated that challenges from intravitreal injection of biologic drugs preclude the use of rabbits for safety evaluation. Serum and plasma ADAs were observed relatively quickly in rabbits, along with intraocular inflammation after injection of the initial drug dose. ADAs were also seen and persisted in the vitreous, limiting drug exposure due to their presence in the vitreous compartment.⁸⁷ Another study²⁹⁸ to determine the pharmacokinetics of a long-acting formulation of a dimeric anti-VEGF molecule (consisting of two anti-VEGF antibodies attached to a human IgG₁ Fc region) noted the formation of ADAs in ocular rabbit samples, which interfered with study parameters and resulted in the subsequent use of primates to reduce the observed impact of immunogenicity in rabbits.²⁹⁸

These observations point to the limitations and thus difficulties in the applicability of rabbit and indeed other animal models in preclinical analysis of biologics for the eye.⁸⁷ Animal models are less likely to determine production of neo-epitopes and neutralising antibodies on modified proteins due to different antibody response mechanisms.^{95,299} Serum or plasma samples can help detect ADAs⁸⁶ including specific immune response in the vitreous.³⁰⁰ A comprehensive toxicological study must be performed before translation to phase I clinical trials.

5.2. In vitro models as preclinical tools to develop intraocular therapies

Pharmaceutical *in vitro* models have long been used to accelerate preclinical research. Many *in vitro* models have been developed³⁰¹ to determine correlations of relevant physicochemical and materials factors to optimise formulation and dosage form design. These *in vitro* preclinical models are generally designed to measure one or two relevant factors related to the mode of administration of a dosage form of interest. Simulated biological fluids are also often used for studies related to drug dissolution, release and stability. Preclinical development using *in vitro* preclinical models can be optimised if IVIVCs have been established, and can help to validate the use of dissolution models to establish dissolution specifications.³⁰² The FDA has developed a regulatory guidance for some dosage forms, for example, to validate the use of dissolution models to establish dissolutions.³⁰² and to reduce the number clinical bioequivalence studies to support biowaivers and bioequivalence criteria.^{302,303}

Ocular models for topical or anterior segment delivery are more established than models for the posterior segment. For example, *in vitro* models using isolated corneal epithelial cells from rabbits³⁰¹ mimic the corneal barrier for use to develop of topically administered medicines such as eyedrops. However, limitations exists that involve the lack of complexity of natural eyes and functions such as aqueous humour and tear fluid;³⁰⁴ and low availability of cornea donors.³⁰⁵ There are also many preclinical cell culture models¹³⁰ and *ex vivo* preclinical models that use isolated tissues,³⁰⁶ which are outside the scope of this review.

Determining the intraocular drug release and clearance profiles are crucial parameters to optimise and to ensure consistent *in vivo* performance. Since the widespread use of intraocular medicines is so recent, there are no *in vitro* preclinical models described in the pharmacopeia specifically designed to determine intraocular pharmacokinetics of ocular drugs.

5.2.1. Adaptation of existing pharmaceutical models

The types of apparatus described in the pharmacopeia that can be used for the evaluation of long acting intravitreal formulations are those that have been designed to study drug release from extended release dosage forms for oral administration, namely Apparatus IV (flow-

through cell) and Apparatus VII (reciprocating holder). Apparatus IV consists of a reservoir containing the release medium and a flow through of 1.5 mL/min.³⁰⁷ A water bath helps to control the cell temperature (37 ± 0.5°C). Two different cells provide approximate volumes of 8.0 and 19.0 mL with the bottom cone filled with small glass beads and one bead at the apex to protect the inlet tube.³⁰⁸ Apparatus IV has many advantages over more widely used dissolution apparatus as it can operate under different conditions, i.e. an open or closed system. Medium is delivered fresh and drug elute is removed in an open system while a constant volume, different flow rates and temperatures are used in a closed system.³⁰⁹ For intravitreal formulations in particular, the ability to control flow rates, temperature, and the option to test in an open system (thus maintaining sink volume) allows for dissolution testing to model drug clearance in the eye. However, ocular dimensions and orientation, appropriate vitreous media and compartmentalisation are not accurately modelled, which are important parameters to consider for the development of longer lasting ocular formulations.²⁵¹

Originally used to test transdermal formulations,³¹⁰ Apparatus VII is also used for the dissolution testing of oral extended release tablets and medical devices such as drug eluting stents. The Apparatus VII has also been adapted for testing of intravitreal products, in particular Ozurdex[®]. The Apparatus VII consists of volumetrically calibrated solution containers with an assembled motor/drive. The temperature is maintained by immersing the solution containers in a water bath.³¹¹ The use of Apparatus VII for testing of intravitreal implants is due to the capability to test dissolution in volumes of 3.0-30.0 mL with automated replacement of dissolution media. The Apparatus VII is thought to model the volumes within the posterior compartment of the eye (<5.0 mL) better than other dissolution apparatus currently available while also providing the sink conditions for dissolution testing. However, similarly to Apparatus IV, Apparatus VII does not effectively model the eye with regards to flow rate, viscosity and compartmentalisation. Diffusion control in the posterior cavity is missing.²⁵¹

5.2.2. Importance of flow in an *in vitro* model

Mass exchange within the eye is dominated by aqueous flow, which is secreted at 1.5–3.0 μ L/min from the ciliary body into the vitreous. Different flow rates are seen in the morning (3.0 μ L/min), afternoon (2.4 μ L/min) and night (1.5 μ L/min).^{312,313} Therapeutic proteins such as antibodies are charged, high molecular weight molecules and will predominantly clear through the anterior route with little protein clearing through the RCS route.^{105,112,131–133,314} Proteins are large molecules, therefore, they have longer half-lives (i.e. days) and slower diffusivity in the vitreous than most low molecular weight drugs in the soluble phase (i.e. hours).³⁶ Low molecular weight drugs often display greater retinal permeability that also allows RCS clearance.²⁵¹ Steroidal implants achieve prolonged exposure in the posterior segment for a

low molecular weight drug. Extensive research and efforts are still required to increase the duration of action of intravitreal administered protein-based medicines.

Currently, there is little information reported in research for the development of an *in vitro* model that accounts for aqueous flow.³¹⁵ This concept becomes extremely crucial for the development of long acting protein formulations that predominantly exit via the anterior route. Drugs administered by intravitreal injection are cleared posteriorly through the retina or from the aqueous outflow via the hyaloid membrane through the anterior chamber. A number of studies to evaluate intraocular flow have been conducted in rabbits.³¹⁶ Duke-Elder³¹⁷ was the first to describe fluid turnover in the rabbit vitreous. Fluid was reported to originate from the capillaries of the ciliary body and pars plana and then travel posteriorly through the vitreous and exit near to the optic nerve head. The slow stream of fluid was a result of 'simple diffusion'.^{317,318}

Fowlks³¹⁸ then studied the migration of India ink and nitro blue tetrazolium chloride in the posterior segment in rabbits. When an injection was made close to the retina or pars plana, it followed a 'meridional' flow pattern.³¹⁸ This has been reported to be 'simplistic' for poorly soluble suspensions where aggregates may be present from the initial dispersion phase.³¹⁹ For example, a study reported drug aggregates of triamcinolone in the posterior chamber of the rabbit eye up to 15 days post-injection.³²⁰ Clearance across the RCS pathway by permeation is a rapid process because of the relatively large surface area of the retina compared to the anterior hyaloid between the lens and ciliary body. The concentration of HA in the vitreous is also reported to be larger near the retina and as a result might be responsible to the radial or 'meridional' component of flow near the retinal surface of the vitreous.³¹⁸

Convection is a result of steady permeating flow through the vitreous due to the pressure drop between the anterior hyaloid membrane and the retinal surfaces and/or by active transport through the RPE.³²¹ Drugs with high diffusivity experience almost negligible effects on its absorption from convection. Whereas, a more dominant effect for drug with low diffusivity coefficients, such as macromolecules, is seen with convection.^{322,323} Significant differences in drug distribution for both large and small molecules are seen with the effects of geometry, diffusion and convection.³²⁴ Convection effects has been reported to have a bigger influence to mixing than saccades.^{24,325–328} A study³²⁹ reported the differences in transport mechanism between human and neonatal mouse eyes.³²⁹ The transport mechanism in the eyes of a mouse was predominantly diffusive. Whereas, both types of mechanisms is possible with the eyes of a human depending on the injected drug, i.e. balanced between convection and diffusion for small molecules and convection for large molecules.³²⁹

A few ophthalmic *in vitro* models have recently been described. The EyeMos model is a single compartment, non-flow model used to study eye movements/saccades and convection.^{325,330,331} Researchers from Genentech have developed a 3-compartment model to

determine permeability into the blood circulation from posterior cavity that fits data to the rabbit.³¹⁴ They have also described a static/no flow *in vitro* model (ExVit) designed to estimate protein stability after intravitreal injection, which is a crucial parameter to consider during the development of long lasting formulations.³³² The PK-Eye[™] is a two-compartment, innovative, aqueous outflow model that estimates the clearance of biologics and their formulations^{62,64,65,251,333,334} and can be used to establish IVIVCs for small molecules and implants.^{333,334} The PK-Eye[™] can help in the efficient screening and optimisation of formulations while reducing the use of animal models during the testing of suboptimal preclinical candidates.⁶⁵

5.3. Drug distribution after intravitreal injection

Computer modelling studies have been extensively conducted to understand how a drug is distributed within the vitreous after drug administration.³²⁸ Two common methods of computational modelling of drug distribution recognised by the FDA include Compartmental Modelling (CM) and Finite Element Analysis (FEA).^{335,336} CM is a cruder method, where the globe is divided into large segments and rules applied to each one; whereas FEA can map very specific local variations in greater detail. Various research with computational modelling has been reported to model drug transport following intravitreal injection.^{323,327,337–340} Others have reported the effect of drug distribution from intraocular or periocular implant^{329,338,341} and for the development of IVIVCs.^{342,343} Most studies describe the distribution of injected materials in the vitreous both theoretically and experimentally, but there has been much less described to correlate with real-time data on the distribution and elimination of drugs released from implants or ocular formulations.

There are several features about intravitreal injections that affect drug distribution and kinetics such as needle depth/size, location, angle, and injection speed/volume.^{328,344} Some guidelines do exist for intravitreal injection strategy,³⁴⁵ however, these features vary between different practices. Poiseuille's law describes the liquid flow resistance in a tube in relation to the radius of the tube.³⁴⁶ Fluid resistance, or pressure, is proportional to the fourth power of the diameter and linearly related to length.³⁴⁶ Therefore, smaller needle bore size will have a higher post-injection IOP due to less drug volume reflux from the injection site.³⁴⁷ Different methods of fluid injection into the vitreous through the pars plana can result in a difference in the amount of injected fluid reflux from the needle,³⁴⁸ which can reduce drug bioavailability.³⁴⁹ Intravitreal injection procedures can result in a scleral wound with higher chances of retinal detachment and cystoid macular oedema with vitreous incarceration.³⁴⁸

The shape of the injected bolus volume also affects drug peak concentrations.³²⁸ Most computational models consider a spherical/cylindrical shape as an accurate representation of a drug solution in the vitreous humour when developing the diffusive-convective transport

equation.^{25,323,329,337,338,341} However, the shape of the injected bolus can alter depending on the viscosity of the vitreous or the type of vitreous substitute. For example, one study³²⁸ reported the shape of injected Coomassie blue dye in different vitreous substitutes (HA, silicone oil and water).³²⁸ The dye displayed a spherical shape at slower injection rates in silicone oil, whereas the dye showed an ellipsoidal distribution in HA.³²⁸

There will be significant concentration gradients within the vitreous due to the localised initial distribution of the drug and mass transfer; and changing the variables of an intravitreal injection or implant may affect the concentration gradients.³³⁷ Different drug concentrations in the lens, vitreous and retina can be achieved with varying the position of an implant. In one study,³⁵⁰ the effects of implant (cylindrical and disc) location on various parts of the posterior segment using a finite model was discussed. Drug concentrations in the vitreous was not significantly altered when the implant was located in the front and rear parts of the posterior segment.³⁵⁰ Implant placement becomes more important for a specific (and sensitive) target like the macula. For example, higher drug concentrations can be achieved with an implant placement in the sub-retinal space instead of sub-Tenon. However, placing the implant closer to the macula (i.e. sub-Tenon) resulted in higher drug concentrations.³⁵⁰ In general, subretinal administration is less accessible and less feasible.

5.4. Replacement, reduction and refinement of animal use in intravitreal drug development

The over-use of animal models has been criticised for its ethical and financial implications. Animals are used for all aspects of developing medicines for the eye. For example, over 20,000 rabbits were used for Draize eye irritancy tests in the UK in 2004 with more than 3 million animals were used for experimentation by 2011.^{351,352} Researchers may face an austere environment of regulatory and welfare organisations of animals to conduct pharmacokinetic studies in animals. It is difficult to use what is observed in animals to predict efficacy and pharmacokinetics in humans. Animals are generally sacrificed at each time point for pharmacokinetic sampling.³⁰¹ These types of experiments are routinely conducted throughout preclinical development, however, there is a recognised need to reduce animal experimentation because much more is known about the limits of animals for translation¹⁵ and about ocular pharmacokinetics, which can be modelled preclinically.³⁷ It has also become increasingly recognised that immunogenic animal responses (such as those seen with rabbits) may impact not only toxicologic and pharmacokinetic tests but also animal welfare, potentially leading to suspension or termination of such studies.^{87,88}

According to the Ipsos report, the public's attitude towards the acceptability of the use of animals in all types of research was evaluated.^{353,354} The results suggest that the general acceptance of using animals for all types of research was restricted to the situation of no alternatives. The percentage of people against animal testing from 2014 to 2018 was

comparable to those who gave a favourable response to an animal study.³⁵⁴ Public acceptability is based on the purpose of the research.³⁵⁴ There are many directives/policies aimed at decreasing animal model numbers needed during preclinical drug development.³⁵⁵ In 2009, single dose acute toxicity studies were removed from the international pharmaceutical guidelines ICH M3, saving up to 100 rodents used per drug study.^{356,357} Cross company sharing efforts and an addendum to ICH S6 has resulted in the number of non-human primates used in a typical monoclonal antibody development programme being reduced from 144 to 64.³⁵⁸ Furthermore, cytokine release syndrome can be determined with well-powered and dynamic *in vitro* cytokine release assays.^{359,360}

The concept of the 3Rs emphasised by the National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement and Reduction of Animals in Research (NC3Rs) has begun to gain more traction since the centre's establishment in 2004.²⁰⁷ It was first proposed in 1959 by Rex Burch and William Russell, and it involves the potential to refine animal use to avoid pain and distress to research animals, replace animals with non-animal systems and to reduce the number of animals required for studies in research.³⁶¹ The NC3Rs has opened the discussion amongst scientists for the adaptation of the way animals are used in research, pointing specifically to the idea that animal models are poor predictors of both human disease and safety.³⁶² Thus, this offers the opportunity to deliver more reproducible and cost effective results by the practice of better science through 3Rs technologies.³⁶³ As a result of this work, many countries now have regulations and policies in place requiring the consideration of the 3Rs before animal approval for use in research or testing.³⁶¹

From an economic standpoint, preclinical studies are generally costly in terms of effort, time and finances.³⁶⁴ Typical costs in conducting animal research for ocular studies cover animal purchase, technician fees, sanitation supplies, medical and surgical supplies, equipment usage, space cost and animal husbandry costs.³⁶³ High costs, ethical considerations and scientific limitations have thus begun to hinder the use of animal models for pharmacokinetic evaluation of drugs for ocular therapy.

6. Regulatory considerations

The average per-clinical study costs across all clinical phases is estimated to be \$49.8 million (USD) for ophthalmology.³⁶⁵ Since the first anti-VEGF intravitreal therapy (Macugen[®]), 26% of all FDA approved ophthalmic drugs were licensed for intravitreal administration (**Table 6**).³⁶⁶ Despite this and the need for intravitreal therapies for retinal diseases, there is a lack of specific International Committee Harmonisation (ICH) or FDA Nonclinical Regulatory Guidance on intravitreal drugs. FDA requirements for marketing approval can be sought from submitted reviews for approved products. **Table 6** lists New Drug Applications (NDA) and BLAs made for intravitreal drugs to treat retinal diseases. All manufacturing processes must

be controlled and validated to ensure pure and potent drugs are produced reproducibly. Sterility, stability and shelf-life assurance must be provided with ongoing audit of manufacture and sterilisation processes to ensure quality is maintained. Regulatory compliance is necessary to ensure patient safety but also there is also a need for efficient preclinical studies to support innovation, and new therapies reaching patients. Preclinical modelling of candidate drugs may expedite drug development and reduce costs by narrowing down the number of potential drug candidates or formulations for subsequent studies.

For most intravitreal protein-based biologics (e.g. ranibizumab and aflibercept), pharmacodynamic studies include binding affinity to VEGF isoforms by surface plasmon resonance (SPR) analysis and changes in vascular permeability following intradermal administration to male hairless guinea pigs.^{367,368} According to the BLA filed for ranibizumab and aflibercept, distribution pharmacokinetic studies were conducted in normal New Zealand White rabbits and pigmented rabbits respectively.^{367,368} The vitreous, aqueous humour and serum, and retinal tissue following intravitreal, subconjunctival and intracameral administration were analysed.³⁶⁷ Pharmacokinetic modelling was then performed in rabbits and cynomolgus monkeys following intravitreal and intravenous administration using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).^{367,368} Toxicology studies included 4,13,16 and 26-week repeat dose intravitreal toxicity studies in cynomolgus monkeys and local tolerance testing in rabbits. Measurements included clinical observations, IOP, electroretinography (ERG), fluorescein angiography and ocular photography, histopathology, vitreal sampling for toxico-kinetics and serum antibody analysis. Cross-reactivity of biologic with cryosections of normal human tissue was conducted with immunohistochemistry. Haemolytic potential, blood compatibility and vitreal fluid compatibility testing assessed the suitability of the drug product and formulation.367,368

Phase I and II studies include open-label studies single-dose escalation studies and repeated dosing regimen studies. Multiple double masked randomised controlled phase III studies are conducted to determine non-inferiority or superiority compared to controls. Primary endpoints were the group who lost fewer than 15 letters in visual acuity one year compared to baseline. Clinical studies also collect data on systemic and ocular adverse events. It has been reported that the systemic delivery of anti-VEGF antibodies can lead to potential adverse effects such as hypertension, myocardial infarction, gastrointestinal perforations, stroke, thromboembolic events and kidney diseases.³⁶⁹ Some intravitreal anti-VEGF medicines have been reported to show detectable levels in the systemic circulation that may significantly suppress systemic VEGF levels.³⁷⁰⁻³⁷² Long term follow-up post-market approval studies need to be monitored for these events.³⁷³

Table 6. New Drug Application (NDA) and Biologic License Application (BLA) made for intravitreal drugs to treat retinal diseases

Product	Application Number	Date of Approval	Indication	Route of Administration	Pivotal Clinical Studies
Abicipar pegol	BLA filing	Pending	wAMD	3-monthly IVT	CEDAR, SEQUOIA
Avastin® (bevacizumab)	BLA 125085	2004	(off label ocular use) Metastatic colorectal carcinoma	4-weekly IVT	CATT, IVAN, GEFAL, MANTA, LUCAS
Beovu® (brolucizumab)	BLA 761125	2019	Wet AMD	3-monthly IVT	HAWK, HARRIER
Eylea® (aflibercept)	BLA 125387	2011	wAMD, DME and RVO	8 or 12-weekly IVT	VIEW 1/ 2, VISTA/VIVID
lluvien® (fluocinolone acetonide)	NDA 201923	2014	DME	Implant 36 months	FAME
Jetrea® (ocriplasmin)	BLA 125422	2012	Sympto- matic VMA	Single dose IVT	TG-MV-006/ TG-MV-007
Lucentis® (ranibizumab)	BLA 125156	2006	wAMD, DME and RVO	4-weekly IVT	ANCHOR/MA RINA, RISE/RIDE/RE STORE
Macugen® (pegaptanib sodium)	NDA 21756	2004	wAMD	6-weekly IVT	EOP1003 /1004
Ozurdex® (dexamethasone)	NDA 22315	2009	DME	3 monthly implant	MEAD
Retisert® (fluocinolone acetonide)	NDA 021737	2005	Chronic non- infectious uveitis	IVT implant	BLP 415-001, BLP 415-004, MUST
Vitrasert® (ganciclovir)	NDA 020569	1996	CMV Retinitis	IVT implant	-

Abbreviations: w<u>AMD</u>: exudative or wet age-related macular degeneration; BLA: biologics license agreement; <u>DME</u>: diabetic macular edema; <u>IVT</u>: intravitreal; <u>NDA</u>: new drug application; <u>RVO</u>: retinal vein occlusion, <u>VMA</u>: vitreomacular adhesion.

Special considerations need to be made for intravitreal implants. Biodegradable components of intravitreal implants must be shown to be biocompatible and can be demonstrated in chronic intravitreal ocular toxicity studies in appropriate species.³⁷⁴ PLGA is the biodegradable component of Ozurdex[®]. PLGA polymers have been used safely for up to 28 years in a number of commercial medicinal products such as absorbable sutures Vicryl.³⁷³

Polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) is another polymer used in ophthalmology with a long track record in medical applications. Iluvien[®] implant comprises of a PVA matrix inside a polyimide tube with a reported release rate of 0.25 µg/day of fluocinolone acetonide for a 36-month period. Nonclinical toxicological program includes determining the ocular toxicity and pharmacokinetics of such materials for 24 months in rabbits. An additional 9 months is required for ocular toxicity in rabbits with forced degradation in an accelerated ageing chamber.³⁷⁵ Additional biocompatibility studies of the polyimide tubing are required.³⁷⁵ Applicators of intravitreal implants must be easy to operate and safely insert, and easy to dispense the implant.

There are risks with the use of off-label compounded intravitreal drugs. The safety, effectiveness and quality of compounded drugs are not evaluated; hence they are not approved by a regulatory agency. Issues such as sterility assurance, reformulation and change in route of administration can potentially pose a risk to patients. Kenalog[®] is a common off-label intravitreal injection that is used in clinic.³⁷⁶ Due to safety reports of sterile endophthalmitis and larger aggregate size inducing retinal cytotoxicity, a preservative-free formulation is available.³⁷⁷ Furthermore, the preservative is potentially toxic, and without dilution or washing this may lead to retinal damage or death. Triescence™ (Alcon Inc.) is a preservative-free triamcinolone acetonide preparation used in compounding pharmacies.146,378,379

Studies have shown that compounding bevacizumab to treat wAMD causes protein aggregation in the formulation,³⁸⁰ and ocular inflammation,^{381–384}infection^{382,385} and formation of floaters.^{386–388} The repackaging process may introduce silicone oil microdroplets into the formulation.^{380,389} Compounding, refilling, mechanical shock and multiple freeze-thaw cycles carries risk for aggregation, particle generation and formation of silicone oil microdroplets.^{389,390} Sufficient padding and use of shock indicators in shipping containers can reduce the chances of mechanical shock.³⁹⁰ FDA report specific and careful comments on the preparation and handling of bevacizumab syringes. Discrepancies in the report have been noted as the number of syringes filled and vials used per batch was not always documented on compounding and repackaging.^{90,391} Bevacizumab can be repackaged into multiple single dose syringes but would not be accepted if bevacizumab is mixed, repackaged or diluted.³⁹²

Recently, the FDA has announced safety alerts on compounded intravitreal injections containing vancomycin after cases of haemorrhagic occlusive retinal vasculitis (HORV, a rare and sight threatening condition) were reported.³⁹³ It is unclear if these adverse events were caused directly from vancomycin or the compounding with triamcinolone and moxifloxacin for intravitreal use. A higher risk of HORV is possible with the general prophylactic use of intravitreal vancomycin, whether used alone or in a compounded drug combination (with

presence of other multiple active ingredients).³⁹³ Hence, the safety and efficacy of intravitreal vancomycin still requires to be achieved with well-controlled trials.³⁹³

According to the FDA guidance "Nonclinical Safety Evaluation of Reformulated Drug Products and Products Intended for Administration by an Alternate Route" (2015), a change in route of administration or formulation of a pre-existing drug should prompt a re-evaluation of toxicity.³⁹⁴ Evidence from the literature can be used, however, establishing a clinical bridge would need to be made. Additional nonclinical studies to confirm safety of change in route of administration especially if duration of use is markedly different or different excipients are used.³⁹⁴ Toxicity studies (ocular and systemic) in two species are required for new formulations that have not been previously administered by a certain ocular route.³⁹⁴ Ocular toxicity can be evaluated with fundoscopy, electroretinography and histopathology, slit lamp biomicroscopy and tonometry.³⁹⁴ Complete clinical formulation groups and vehicle control are required for accurate ocular studies. It is important to investigate the systemic exposure and ocular tissue distribution. Although histological evaluation may be limited to locally exposed tissues if systemic exposure by a new route of administration is equivalent to or less than the approved route. Durations of the toxicity studies should follow the recommendations outlined in ICH M3(R2) or ICH S9.³⁵⁸

7. Conclusions

The widespread use of intravitreally injected protein-based medicines has fundamentally changed how retinal diseases are now treated. A critical unmet need is to minimise the number of intravitreal injections that patients need over time to treat progressive chronic conditions. Maximising the duration of action of new intraocular drugs poses preclinical challenges. New dosage forms must first above all requirements maintain formulation stability and avoid protein aggregation to reduce the cases of ocular tolerability. Developing long-acting intravitreal therapies requires knowledge of intraocular mass transfer processes, the varying nature of the vitreous and the limitations of animal models. The review has highlighted the difference in human and animal models in terms of its anatomical features (e.g. vitreal path length), aqueous outflow, immune response and organisation of vitreous macromolecular structure. It is crucial to consider these factors and the effects of ageing, changes in the vitreous structure, differences in inter-species viscosity and effects of vitrectomy on drug diffusion and distribution.

Evaluating human ocular pharmacokinetics is expected to remain prohibitively invasive, so efforts to develop appropriate preclinical models to mimic intraocular mass transfer and clearance mechanisms will be important to accelerate preclinical development and may also become a viable surrogate for modelling human intraocular pharmacokinetics. Regulatory considerations for the next generation of intravitreal medicines will be based on criteria and clinical data from the first generation of antibody-based intraocular medicines. Knowledge of the regulatory landscape will be important for effective preclinical development.

8. Acknowledgments

We are grateful for funding from the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR) Biomedical Research Centre at Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology, Moorfields Special Trustees, the Helen Hamlyn Trust (in memory of Paul Hamlyn), Medical Research Council, Fight for Sight and the Michael and Ilse Katz foundation.

9. References

- 1. Bourne RRA, Jonas JB, Bron AM, et al. Prevalence and causes of vision loss in highincome countries and in Eastern and Central Europe in 2015: Magnitude, temporal trends and projections. *Br J Ophthalmol*. 2018;102(5):575-585.
- 2. Ranta V, Urtti A. Transscleral drug delivery to the posterior eye: prospects of pharmacokinetic modeling. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2006;58(11):1164-1181.
- 3. del Amo EM, Rimpelä A, Heikkinen E, et al. Pharmacokinetic aspects of retinal drug delivery. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2017;57:134-185.
- 4. Prasad PS, Schwartz SD, Hubschman J-P. Age-related macular degeneration: current and novel therapies. *Maturitas*. 2010;66(1):46-50.
- 5. Edelhauser HF, Rowe-Rendleman CL, Robinson MR, et al. Ophthalmic drug delivery systems for the treatment of retinal diseases: basic research to clinical applications. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2010;51(11):5403-5420.
- 6. Amos AF, McCarty DJ, Zimmet P. The rising global burden of diabetes and its complications: estimates and projections to the year 2010. *Diabet Med.* 1997;14 Suppl 5:S1-85.
- 7. King, HilaryAubert RE, Herman WH. Prevalence, numerical estimates, and projections. *Diabetes*. 1998;21(9):1414-1431.
- 8. Cheung N, Wong TY. Changing trends of blindness: the initial harvest from translational public health and clinical research in ophthalmology. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2012;153(2):193-195.
- 9. Petri AS, Boysen K, Cehofski LJ, et al. Intravitreal Injections with Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Inhibitors: A Practical Approach. *Ophthalmol Ther*. 2020;9(1):191-203.
- 10. Williams G. IVT injections: health policy implications. Rev Ophthalmol. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?q=IVT+Injections%3A+Health+Policy+Implication &btnG=&hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C39#0. Published 2014.
- 11. Parikh R, Ross JS, Sangaralingham LR, Adelman RA, Shah ND, Barkmeier AJ. Trends of Anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Use in Ophthalmology Among Privately Insured and Medicare Advantage Patients. *Ophthalmology*. 2017;124(3):352-358.
- 12. Rimpelä AK, Kiiski I, Deng F, Kidron H, Urtti A. Pharmacokinetic simulations of intravitreal biologicals: Aspects of drug delivery to the posterior and anterior segments. *Pharmaceutics*. 2019;11(1):9-11.
- 13. Sharma A, Kumar N, Kuppermann BD, Francesco B, Loewenstein A. Biotherapeutics and immunogenicity: ophthalmic perspective. *Eye*. 2019;33(9):1359-1361.
- 14. Jager RD, Aiello LP, Patel SC, Cunningham ET. Risks of intravitreous injection: a comprehensive review. *Retina*. 2004;24(5):676-698.

- 15. Thackaberry EA, Lorget F, Farman C, Bantseev V. The safety evaluation of long-acting ocular delivery systems. *Drug Discov Today*. 2019;24(8):1539-1550.
- 16. Mehta SC, Kelley RF, Tesar DB. Protein conjugates and fusion proteins as ocular therapeutics. *Drug Discov Today*. 2019;24(8):1440-1445.
- 17. Holz FG, Tadayoni R, Beatty S, et al. Multi-country real-life experience of anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy for wet age-related macular degeneration. *Br J Ophthalmol*. 2015;99(2):220-226.
- 18. Rofagha S, Bhisitkul RB, Boyer DS, Sadda SR, Zhang K. Seven-year outcomes in ranibizumab-treated patients in ANCHOR, MARINA, and HORIZON: A multicenter cohort study (SEVEN-UP). *Ophthalmology*. 2013;120(11):2292-2299.
- 19. Talks J, Daien V, Finger RP, et al. The use of real-world evidence for evaluating anti– vascular endothelial growth factor treatment of neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Surv Ophthalmol*. 2019;64(5):707-719.
- 20. Behar-Cohen F. Recent advances in slow and sustained drug release for retina drug delivery. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*. 2019;16(7):679-686.
- 21. Bhatt N, Tucker W, Sen HN, Nussenblatt RB. Biologic Therapies: Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor-α, Anti-Interleukins, Rituximab and Others. *Dev Ophthalmol*. 2016;55:252-264.
- 22. Gil-Martínez M, Santos-Ramos P, Fernández-Rodríguez M, et al. Pharmacological Advances in the Treatment of Age-related Macular Degeneration. *Curr Med Chem.* 2019;27(4):583-598.
- 23. Awwad S, Mohamed Ahmed AHA, Sharma G, et al. Principles of pharmacology in the eye. *Br J Pharmacol.* 2017;174:4205-4223.
- 24. Urtti A. Challenges and obstacles of ocular pharmacokinetics and drug delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2006;58(11):1131-1135.
- 25. Ohtoril A, ToJo K. In vivo/in Vitro Correlation of Intravitreal Delivery of Drugs with the Help of Computer Simulation. *Biol Pharm Bull*. 1994;17(2):283-290.
- 26. Barat A, Ruskin HJ, Crane M. Probabilistic methods for drug dissolution . Part 2 . Modelling a soluble binary drug delivery system dissolving in vitro. *Simul Model Pract Theory*. 2006;14:857-873.
- 27. Bonam M, Christopher D, Cipolla D, et al. Minimizing variability of cascade impaction measurements in inhalers and nebulizers. *AAPS PharmSciTech*. 2008;9(2):404-413.
- 28. Agu RU, Ugwoke MI. In vitro and in vivo testing methods for respiratory drug delivery. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*. 2011;8(1):57-69.
- 29. Jones HM, Gardner IB, Collard WT, et al. Simulation of human intravenous and oral pharmacokinetics of 21 diverse compounds using physiologically based pharmacokinetic modelling. *Clin Pharmacokinet*. 2011;50(5):331-347.
- 30. Lavé T, Chapman K, Goldsmith P, Rowland M. Human clearance prediction: shifting the paradigm. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*. 2009;5(9):1039-1048.
- 31. Rostami-Hodjegan A, Tucker GT. Simulation and prediction of in vivo drug metabolism in human populations from in vitro data. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. 2007;6(2):140-148.
- 32. Longest PW, Tian G, Walenga RL, Hindle M. Comparing MDI and DPI aerosol deposition using in vitro experiments and a new stochastic individual path (SIP) model of the conducting airways. *Pharm Res.* 2012;29:1670-1688.
- 33. Sun L, Cun D, Yuan B, et al. Formulation and *in vitro / in vivo* correlation of a drug-inadhesive transdermal patch containing azasetron. *J Pharm Sci.* 2012;101(12):4540-4548.

- 34. Larsen C, Larsen SW, Jensen H, Yaghmur A, Østergaard J. Role of in vitro release models in formulation development and quality control of parenteral depots. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv.* 2009;6(12):1283-1295.
- 35. Ng SF, Rouse JJ, Sanderson FD, Eccleston GM. The relevance of polymeric synthetic membranes in topical formulation assessment and drug diffusion study. *Arch Pharm Res.* 2012;35(4):579-593.
- 36. Shatz W, Hass PE, Mathieu M, et al. Contribution of Antibody Hydrodynamic Size to Vitreal Clearance Revealed through Rabbit Studies Using a Species-Matched Fab. *Mol Pharm*. 2016;13(9):2996-3003.
- 37. Caruso A, Füth M, Alvarez-Sánchez R, et al. Ocular Half-Life of Intravitreal Biologics in Humans and Other Species: Meta-Analysis and Model-Based Prediction. *Mol Pharm*. 2020;17(2):695-709.
- 38. Lotery A, Griner R, Ferreira A, Milnes F, Dugel P. Real-world visual acuity outcomes between ranibizumab and aflibercept in treatment of neovascular AMD in a large US data set. *Eye*. 2017;31(12):1697-1706.
- 39. Sophie R, Akhtar A, Sepah YJ, et al. Aflibercept: a Potent Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Antagonist for Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration and Other Retinal Vascular Diseases. *Biol Ther.* 2012;2(1):3.
- 40. de Oliveira Dias JR, de Andrade GC, Novais EA, et al. Fusion proteins for treatment of retinal diseases: aflibercept, ziv-aflibercept, and conbercept. *Int J Retin Vitr.* 2016;2(1):3.
- 41. Martin DF, Maguire MG, Fine SL, et al. Ranibizumab and bevacizumab for treatment of neovascular age-related macular degeneration: Two-year results. *Ophthalmology*. 2012;119(7):1388-1398.
- 42. The Lancet. Age-related macular degeneration: treatment at what cost? *Lancet*. 2018;392(10153):1090.
- 43. Shalaby AK, Lewis K, Bush K, Meredith PR, Di Simplicio S, Lockwood AJ. Licence to save: a UK survey of anti-VEGF use for the eye in 2015. *Eye*. 2016;30(11):1404-1406.
- 44. Raftery J, Clegg A, Jones J, Tan SC, Lotery A. Ranibizumab (Lucentis) versus bevacizumab (Avastin): modelling cost effectiveness. *Br J Ophthalmol.* 2007;91(9):1244-1246.
- 45. Markham A. Brolucizumab: First Approval. *Drugs*. 2019;79(18):1997-2000.
- 46. Ung BC, Agranat J, Yonekawa Y. The fight against neovascular AMD. An update on the weapons in the works. *Ophthalmol Manag.* 2019;(July 1, 2019).
- 47. Novartis. New Novartis Phase III data for brolucizumab demonstrate reliability of 12week treatment interval. https://www.novartis.com/news/media-releases/new-novartisphase-iii-data-brolucizumab-demonstrate-reliability-12-week-treatment-interval. Published 2018.
- 48. Yannuzzi NA, Freund KB. Brolucizumab: Evidence to date in the treatment of neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Clin Ophthalmol.* 2019;13:1323-1329.
- 49. Jain A, Chea S, Matsumiya W, et al. Severe vision loss secondary to retinal arteriolar occlusion after multiple intravitreal brolucizumab administrations. *Am J Ophthalmol Case Reports*. 2020;18(April):100687.
- 50. Haug SJ, Hien DL, Uludag G, et al. Retinal arterial occlusive vasculitis following intravitreal brolucizumab administration. *Am J Ophthalmol Case Reports*. 2020;18(March):100680.
- 51. Sharma A, Kumar N, Parachuri N, et al. Brolucizumab and immunogenicity. Eye.

2020:13-15.

- 52. Molecular Partners. Allergan and Molecular Partners Announce Two Positive Phase 3 Clinical Trials for Abicipar pegol 8 and 12-week Regimens for the Treatment in Patients with Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. https://www.molecularpartners.com/allergan-and-molecular-partners-announce-twopositive-phase-3-clinical-trials-for-abicipar-pegol-8-and-12-week-regimens-for-thetreatment-in-patients-with-neovascular-age-related-macular-degeneration/. Published 2018.
- 53. Campochiaro PA, Marcus DM, Awh CC, et al. The Port Delivery System with Ranibizumab for Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Results from the Randomized Phase 2 Ladder Clinical Trial. *Ophthalmology*. 2019;126(8):1141-1154.
- 54. Shatz W, Aaronson J, Yohe S, Kelley RF, Kalia YN. Strategies for modifying drug residence time and ocular bioavailability to decrease treatment frequency for back of the eye diseases. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*. 2019;16(1):43-57.
- 55. Al-Khersan H, Hussain RM, Ciulla TA, Dugel PU. Innovative therapies for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2019;20(15):1879-1891.
- 56. Boyer DS, Faber D, Gupta S, et al. Dexamethasone Intravitreal Implant for Treatment of Diabetic Macular Edema in Vitrectomized Patients. *Retina*. 2011;31(5):915-923.
- 57. Adán A, Pelegrín L, Rey A, et al. Dexamethasone intravitreal implant for treatment of uveitic persistent cystoid macular edema in vitrectomized patients. *Retina*. 2013;33(7):1435-1440.
- 58. Medeiros MD, Alkabes M, Navarro R, Garcia-Arumí J, Mateo C, Corcóstegui B. Dexamethasone intravitreal implant in vitrectomized versus nonvitrectomized eyes for treatment of patients with persistent diabetic macular edema. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2014;30(9):709-716.
- 59. Kumar A, Alfahad Q, Mitra A, Elsherbiny S, Lip PL. Intravitreal fluocinolone acetonide (Iluvien) for treatment of refractory diabetic macular oedema in vitrectomised eyes. *Eye*. 2016;30(5):763-764.
- 60. Adamson P, Wilde T, Dobrzynski E, et al. Single ocular injection of a sustained-release anti -VEGF delivers 6 months pharmacokinetics and ef fi cacy in a primate laser CNV model. *J Control Release*. 2016;244:1-13.
- 61. Osswald CR, Guthrie MJ, Avila A, Valio JA, Mieler WF, Kang-Mieler JJ. In Vivo Efficacy of an Injectable Microsphere-Hydrogel Ocular Drug Delivery System. *Curr Eye Res.* 2017;42(9):1293-1301.
- 62. Egbu R, Brocchini S, Khaw PT, Awwad S. Antibody loaded collapsible hyaluronic acid hydrogels for intraocular delivery. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. 2018;124:95-103.
- 63. Lovett ML, Wang X, Yucel T, et al. Silk hydrogels for sustained ocular delivery of antivascular endothelial growth factor (anti-VEGF) therapeutics. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. 2015;95:271-278.
- 64. Awwad S, Al-Shohani A, Khaw PT, Brocchini S. Comparative Study of In Situ Loaded Antibody and PEG-Fab NIPAAM Gels. *Macromol Biosci*. 2018;18(2):1700255.
- 65. Awwad S, Abubakre A, Angkawinitwong U, Khaw PT, Brocchini S. In situ antibodyloaded hydrogel for intravitreal delivery. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2019;137(March):104993.
- Drapala PW, Brey EM, Mieler WF, Venerus DC, Kang Derwent JJ, Pérez-Luna VH. Role of Thermo-responsiveness and Poly(ethylene glycol) Diacrylate Cross-link Density on Protein Release from Poly(N-isopropylacrylamide) Hydrogels. *J Biomater Sci Polym Ed*. 2011;22(1-3):59-75.

- 67. Turturro SB, Guthrie MJ, Appel AA, et al. The effects of cross-linked thermo-responsive PNIPAAm-based hydrogel injection on retinal function. *Biomaterials*. 2011;32(14):3620-3626.
- 68. Yu Y, Lau LCM, Lo AC-Y, Chau Y. Injectable Chemically Crosslinked Hydrogel for the Controlled Release of Bevacizumab in Vitreous: A 6-Month In Vivo Study. *Transl Vis Sci Technol.* 2015;4(2):5.
- 69. Rauck BM, Friberg TR, Medina Mendez C a., et al. Biocompatible reverse thermal gel sustains the release of intravitreal bevacizumab in vivo. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 2013;55(1):469-470.
- 70. Hu CC, Chaw JR, Chen CF, Liu HW. Controlled release bevacizumab in thermoresponsive hydrogel found to inhibit angiogenesis. *Biomed Mater Eng.* 2014;24(6):1941-1950.
- 71. Wang CH, Hwang YS, Chiang PR, Shen CR, Hong WH, Hsiue GH. Extended release of bevacizumab by thermosensitive biodegradable and biocompatible hydrogel. *Biomacromolecules*. 2012;13(1):40-48.
- 72. Machinaga N, Ashley GW, Reid R, et al. A Controlled Release System for Long-Acting Intravitreal Delivery of Small Molecules. *Transl Vis Sci Technol.* 2018;7(4):21.
- 73. Pan CK, Durairaj C, Kompella UB, et al. Comparison of long-acting bevacizumab formulations in the treatment of choroidal neovascularization in a rat model. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;27(3):219-224.
- 74. Angkawinitwong U, Awwad S, Khaw PT, Brocchini S, Williams GR. Electrospun formulations of bevacizumab for sustained release in the eye. *Acta Biomater*. 2017;64:126-136.
- 75. Gooch N, Burr R, Holt D, Gale B, Ambati B. Design and in Vitro Biocompatibility of a Novel Ocular Drug Delivery Device. *J Funct Biomater*. 2013;4(1):14-26.
- 76. Abrishami M, Zarei-Ghanavati S, Soroush D, Rouhbakhsh M, Jaafari MR, Malaekeh-Nikouei B. Preparation, characterization, and in vivo evaluation of nanoliposomesencapsulated bevacizumab (avastin) for intravitreal administration. *Retina*. 2009;29(5):699-703.
- 77. Ghosh JG, Nguyen AA, Bigelow CE, et al. Long-acting protein drugs for the treatment of ocular diseases. *Nat Commun*. 2017;8:14837.
- 78. Awwad SSH. The vitreous as a depot to prolong the action of ocular therapies. 2016.
- 79. Huelsmann PM, Kopetzki E. WO 2017/211731 Al, Fusion proteins for ophthalmology with increased eye retention. 2017;(12):1-69.
- 80. Delplace V, Payne S, Shoichet M. Delivery strategies for treatment of age-related ocular diseases: From a biological understanding to biomaterial solutions. *J Control Release*. 2015;219:652-668.
- 81. Goswami S, Wang W, Arakawa T, Ohtake S. Developments and Challenges for mAb-Based Therapeutics. *Antibodies*. 2013;2(3):452-500.
- 82. Awwad S, Angkawinitwong U. Overview of antibody drug delivery. *Pharmaceutics*. 2018;10(3):83.
- 83. European Medicines Agency (EMA). Assessment Report. Eylea. International Non-Proprietary Name: AFLIBERCEPT. Procedure No. EMEA/H/C/002392/II/0009.; 2014.
- 84. Heier JS, Boyer D, Nguyen QD, et al. The 1-year results of CLEAR-IT 2, a phase 2 study of vascular endothelial growth factor trap-eye dosed as-needed after 12-week fixed dosing. *Ophthalmology*. 2011;118(6):1098-1106.

- 85. European Medical Agency. *Guideline on Immunogenicity Assessment of Monoclonal Antibodies Intended for in Vivo Clinical Use*. London; 2012.
- 86. Wessels U, Zadak M, Reiser A, et al. Immunogenicity testing of therapeutic antibodies in ocular fluids after intravitreal injection. *Bioanalysis*. 2018;10(11):803-814.
- 87. de Zafra CLZ, Sasseville VG, Matsumoto S, et al. Inflammation and immunogenicity limit the utility of the rabbit as a nonclinical species for ocular biologic therapeutics. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol.* 2017;86:221-230.
- 88. Wakshull E, Quarmby V, Mahler H-C, et al. Advancements in Understanding Immunogenicity of Biotherapeutics in the Intraocular Space. *AAPS J*. 2017;19(6):1656-1668.
- 89. Ghasemi Falavarjani K, Nguyen QD. Adverse events and complications associated with intravitreal injection of anti-VEGF agents: a review of literature. *Eye*. 2013;27(7):787-794.
- 90. Goldberg RA, Flynn HW, Miller D, Gonzalez S, Isom RF. Streptococcus endophthalmitis outbreak after intravitreal injection of bevacizumab: One-year outcomes and investigative results. *Ophthalmology*. 2013;120(7):1448-1453.
- 91. Sheyman AT, Cohen BZ, Friedman AH, Ackert JM. An outbreak of fungal endophthalmitis after intravitreal injection of compounded combined bevacizumab and triamcinolone. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2013;131(7):864-869.
- 92. Modi YS, Tanchon C, Ehlers JP. Comparative Safety and Tolerability of Anti-VEGF Therapy in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Drug Saf.* 2015;38(3):279-293.
- 93. VanderBeek BL, Bonaffini SG, Ma L. Association of compounded bevacizumab with postinjection endophthalmitis. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2015;133(10):1159-1164.
- 94. Tolentino M. Systemic and Ocular Safety of Intravitreal Anti-VEGF Therapies for Ocular Neovascular Disease. *Surv Ophthalmol.* 2011;56(2):95-113.
- 95. Brinks V, Jiskoot W, Schellekens H. Immunogenicity of therapeutic proteins: the use of animal models. *Pharm Res.* 2011;28(10):2379-2385.
- 96. Laude A, Tan LE, Wilson CG, et al. Intravitreal therapy for neovascular age-related macular degeneration and inter-individual variations in vitreous pharmacokinetics. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2010;29(6):466-475.
- 97. del Amo EM, Urtti A. Rabbit as an animal model for intravitreal pharmacokinetics: Clinical predictability and quality of the published data. *Exp Eye Res.* 2015;137:111-124.
- 98. Rowe-Rendleman CL, Durazo SA, Kompella UB, et al. Drug and gene delivery to the back of the eye: From bench to bedside. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2014;55(4):2714-2730.
- 99. Agrahari V, Mandal A, Agrahari V, et al. A comprehensive insight on ocular pharmacokinetics. *Drug Deliv Transl Res.* 2016;6(6):735-754.
- 100. Rittenhouse KD, Pollack GM. Microdialysis and drug delivery to the eye. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*. 2000;45(2-3):229-241.
- 101. Short B. Safety evaluation of ocular drug delivery formulations: techniques and practical considerations. *Toxicol Pathol*. 2008;36(1):49-62.
- 102. Thakur SS, Barnett NL, Donaldson MJ, Parekh HS. Intravitreal drug delivery in retinal disease: are we out of our depth? *Expert Opin Drug Deliv*. 2014;11(10):1575-1590.
- 103. Gaudreault J, Fei D, Rusit J, Suboc P, Shiu V. Preclinical pharmacokinetics of Ranibizumab (rhuFabV2) after a single intravitreal administration. *Invest Ophthalmol*

Vis Sci. 2005;46(2):726-733.

- 104. Atluri H, Mitra A. Disposition of short-chain aliphatic alcohols in rabbit vitreous by ocular microdialysis. *Exp Eye Res*. 2003;76:315-320.
- 105. Bakri SJ, Snyder MR, Reid JM, Pulido JS, Ezzat MK, Singh RJ. Pharmacokinetics of intravitreal ranibizumab (Lucentis). *Ophthalmology*. 2007;114(12):2179-2182.
- 106. Gaudreault J, Fei D, Beyer JC, et al. Pharmacokinetics and retinal distribution of ranibizumab, a humanized antibody fragment directed against VEGF-A, following intravitreal administration in rabbits. *Retina*. 2007;27(9):1260-1266.
- 107. Xu L, Lu T, Tuomi L, et al. Pharmacokinetics of ranibizumab in patients with neovascular age-related macular degeneration: A population approach. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2013;54(3):1616-1624.
- 108. Krohne TU, Liu Z, Holz FG, Meyer CH. Intraocular pharmacokinetics of ranibizumab following a single intravitreal injection in humans. *Am J Ophthalmol*. 2012;154(4):682-686.e2.
- 109. Miyake T, Sawada O, Kakinoki M, et al. Pharmacokinetics of bevacizumab and its effect on vascular endothelial growth factor after intravitreal injection of bevacizumab in macaque eyes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2010;51(3):1606-1608.
- 110. Meyer CH, Krohne TU, Holz FG. Intraocular pharmacokinetics after a single intravitreal injection of 1.5 mg versus 3.0 mg of bevacizumab in humans. *Retina*. 2011;31(9):1877-1884.
- 111. Zhu Q, Ziemssen F, Henke-Fahle S, et al. Vitreous levels of bevacizumab and vascular endothelial growth factor-A in patients with choroidal neovascularization. *Ophthalmology*. 2008;115(10):1750-1755, 1755.e1.
- 112. Krohne TU, Eter N, Holz FG, Meyer CH. Intraocular pharmacokinetics of bevacizumab after a single intravitreal injection in humans. *Am J Ophthalmol*. 2008;146(4):508-512.
- 113. Stewart MW. Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and pre-clinical characteristics of ophthalmic drugs that bind VEGF. *Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol*. 2014;7(2):167-180.
- 114. Schmitt M, Hippeläinen E, Raviña M, et al. Intravitreal Pharmacokinetics in Mice: SPECT/CT Imaging and Scaling to Rabbits and Humans. *Mol Pharm*. 2019;16(10):4399-4404.
- 115. Brubaker RF. The flow of aqueous humor in the human eye. *Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc*. 1982;80:391-474.
- 116. Toris CB, Yablonski ME, Wang YL, Camras CB. Aqueous humor dynamics in the aging human eye. *Am J Ophthalmol*. 1999;127(4):407-412.
- 117. Crumley WR, Rankin AJ, Allbaugh RA. Evaluation of the aqueous humor flow rate in the eyes of clinically normal cats by use of fluorophotometry. *Am J Vet Res.* 2012;73(5):704-708.
- 118. Rankin AJ, Crumley WR, Allbaugh RA. Effects of ocular administration of ophthalmic 2% dorzolamide hydrochloride solution on aqueous humor flow rate and intraocular pressure in clinically normal cats. *Am J Vet Res.* 2012;73(7):1074-1078.
- 119. Gilger BC, Reeves K-A, Salmon JH. Ocular parameters related to drug delivery in the canine and equine eye: aqueous and vitreous humor volume and scleral surface area and thickness. *Vet Ophthalmol.* 2005;8(4):265-269.
- 120. Bartels SP. Aqueous humor flow measured with fluorophotometry in timolol-treated primates. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 1988;29(10):1498-1504.
- 121. Aihara M. Aqueous Humor Dynamics in Mice. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.

2003;44(12):5168-5173.

- 122. Vaajanen A, Vapaatalo H, Oksala O. A modified in vitro method for aqueous humor outflow studies in enucleated porcine eyes. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2007;23(2):124-131.
- 123. McMaster PR, Macri FJ. The rate of aqueous humor formation in buphthalmic rabbit eyes. *Invest Ophthalmol*. 1967;6(1):84-87.
- 124. Mermoud A, Baerveldt G, Minckler DS, Prata JA, Rao NA. Aqueous humor dynamics in rats. *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*. 1996;234:S198-203.
- 125. Maurice D. Review : Practical Issues in Intravitreal Drug Delivery. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2001;17(4):393-401.
- 126. Siggers JH, Ethier CR. Fluid Mechanics of the Eye. *Annu Rev Fluid Mech*. 2012;44:347-372.
- 127. Ethier CR, Johnson M, Ruberti J. Ocular biomechanics and biotransport. *Annu Rev Biomed Eng*. 2004;6:249-273.
- 128. Thrimawithana TR, Young S, Bunt CR, Green C, Alany RG. Drug delivery to the posterior segment of the eye. *Drug Discov Today*. 2011.
- 129. Kwak HW, Amico DJD. Evaluation of the Retinal Toxicity and Pharmacokinetics of Dexamethasone After Intravitreal Injection. *Arch Ophthalmol*. 1992;110:259-266.
- 130. Haghjou N, Abdekhodaie MJ, Cheng Y-L. Retina-choroid-sclera permeability for ophthalmic drugs in the vitreous to blood direction: quantitative assessment. *Pharm Res.* 2013;30(1):41-59.
- 131. Choonara YE, Pillay V, Danckwerts MP, Carmichael TR, du Toit LC. A review of implantable intravitreal drug delivery technologies for the treatment of posterior segment eye diseases. *J Pharm Sci.* 2010;99(5):2219-2239.
- 132. Cunha-Vaz JG. The blood-ocular barriers: past, present, and future. *Doc Ophthalmol*. 1997;93(1-2):149-157.
- 133. Kim H, Csaky K, Chan C, Bungay P. The pharmacokinetics of rituximab following an intravitreal injection. *Exp Eye Res*. 2006;82:760-766.
- 134. Hughes PM, Olejnik O, Chang-Lin J-E, Wilson CG. Topical and systemic drug delivery to the posterior segments. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*. 2005;57(14):2010-2032.
- 135. Do D V., Rhoades W, Nguyen QD. Pharmacokinetic study of intravitreal aflibercept in humans with neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Retina*. 2019;40(4):643-647.
- 136. Niwa Y, Kakinoki M, Sawada T, Wang X, Ohji M. Ranibizumab and aflibercept: Intraocular pharmacokinetics and their effects on aqueous VEGF level in vitrectomized and nonvitrectomized macaque eyes. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2015;56(11):6501-6505.
- 137. Christoforidis JB, Briley K, Binzel K, et al. Systemic biodistribution and intravitreal pharmacokinetic properties of bevacizumab, ranibizumab, and aflibercept in a nonhuman primate model. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2017;58(13):5636-5645.
- 138. Park SJ, Oh J, Kim Y-K, et al. Intraocular pharmacokinetics of intravitreal vascular endothelial growth factor-Trap in a rabbit model. *Eye*. 2015;29(4):561-568.
- 139. Park SJ, Choi Y, Na YM, et al. Intraocular Pharmacokinetics of Intravitreal Aflibercept (Eylea) in a Rabbit Model. *Investig Opthalmology Vis Sci.* 2016;57(6):2612.
- 140. Christoforidis JB, Williams MM, Kothandaraman S, Kumar K, Epitropoulos FJ, Knopp M V. Pharmacokinetic properties of intravitreal I-124-aflibercept in a rabbit model using

PET/CT. Curr Eye Res. 2012;37(12):1171-1174.

- 141. Nomoto H, Shiraga F, Kuno N, et al. Pharmacokinetics of bevacizumab after topical, subconjunctival, and intravitreal administration in rabbits. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 2009;50(10):4807-4813.
- 142. Sinapis CI, Routsias JG, Sinapis AI, et al. Pharmacokinetics of intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin®) in rabbits. *Clin Ophthalmol*. 2011;5:697-704.
- 143. Ahn J, Kim H, Woo SJ, et al. Pharmacokinetics of intravitreally injected bevacizumab in vitrectomized eyes. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2013;29(7):612-618.
- 144. Audren F, Tod M, Massin P, et al. Pharmacokinetic-pharmacodynamic modeling of the effect of triamcinolone acetonide on central macular thickness in patients with diabetic macular edema. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2004;45(10):3435-3441.
- 145. Beer PM, Bakri SJ, Singh RJ, Liu W, Peters GB, Miller M. Intraocular concentration and pharmacokinetics of triamcinolone acetonide after a single intravitreal injection. *Am Acad Ophthalmol.* 2003;110(4):681-686.
- 146. Cheng L, Banker AS, Martin M, Kozak I, Freeman WR. Triamcinolone acetonide concentration of aqueous humor after decanted 20-mg intravitreal injection. *Ophthalmology*. 2009;116(7):1356-1359.
- 147. Chin H-S, Park T-S, Moon Y-S, Oh J-H. Difference in clearance of intravitreal triamcinolone acetonide between vitrectomized and nonvitrectomized eyes. *Retina*. 2005;25(5):556-560.
- 148. Gao QY, Fu Y, Hui YN. Vitreous substitutes: Challenges and directions. *Int J Ophthalmol*. 2015;8(3):437-440.
- 149. Silva AF, Alves MA, Oliveira MSN. Rheological behaviour of vitreous humour. *Rheol Acta*. 2017;56(4):377-386.
- 150. Panova IG, Tatikolov AS. Characterization of the vitreous body of the human eye using a cyanine dye as a spectral and fluorescent probe. In: Manns F, Söderberg PG, Ho A, eds. *Proceedings of SPIE The International Society for Optical Engineering 7163*. Vol 7163. ; 2009.
- 151. Bishop PN. Structural macromolecules and supramolecular organisation of the vitreous gel. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2000;19(3):323-344.
- 152. Le Goff MM, Bishop PN. Adult vitreous structure and postnatal changes. *Eye*. 2008;22(10):1214-1222.
- 153. Balazs EA. Functional Anatomy of the Vitreous. In: Duane T, Jaeger E, eds. *Biomedical Foundation of Ophthalmology, Vol 1*.; 1984:14.
- 154. Scott JE. The chemical morphology of the vitreous. *Eye*. 1992;6:553-555.
- 155. Ponsioen TL, van der Worp RJ, van Luyn MJA, Hooymans JMM, Los LI. Packages of vitreous collagen (type II) in the human retina: an indication of postnatal collagen turnover? *Exp Eye Res*. 2005;80(5):643-650.
- 156. Sharif-Kashani P, Hubschman J-P, Sassoon D, Kavehpour HP. Rheology of the vitreous gel: effects of macromolecule organization on the viscoelastic properties. *J Biomech*. 2011;44(3):419-423.
- 157. Sebag J, Balazs E a. Morphology and ultrastructure of human vitreous fibers. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 1989;30(8):1867-1871.
- 158. Kodama M, Matsuura T, Hara Y. Structure of vitreous body and its relationship with liquefaction. *J Biomed Sci Eng.* 2013;06(07):739-745.
- 159. Ishizaki M, Westerhausen-Larson a, Kino J, Hayashi T, Kao WW. Distribution of

collagen IV in human ocular tissues. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 1993;34(9):2680-2689.

- 160. Karsdal MA. Introduction. In: *Biochemistry of Collagens, Laminins and Elastin*. Elsevier; 2016:xix-xxxiv.
- 161. Abu el-Asrar AM, Geboes K, Al-Kharashi SA, et al. An immunohistochemical study of collagens in trachoma and vernal keratoconjunctivitis. *Eye*. 1998;12:1001-1006.
- 162. Almubrad T, Akhtar S. Structure of corneal layers, collagen fibrils, and proteoglycans of tree shrew cornea. *Mol Vis*. 2011;17:2283-2291.
- 163. Ponsioen TL, van Luyn MJ a, van der Worp RJ, van Meurs JC, Hooymans JMM, Los LI. Collagen distribution in the human vitreoretinal interface. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 2008;49(9):4089-4095.
- 164. Kang H. Collagen Heterogeneity in the Avian Eye: Lens, Vitreous Body, Cornea and Sclera. *Exp Eye Res*. 1974;18:395-406.
- 165. Rehnberg M, Ammitzboll T, Tengrothi B. Collagen distribution in the lamina cribrosa and the trabecular meshwork of the human eye. *Br J Ophthalmol*. 1987;71:886-892.
- 166. Junqueira LC, Montes GS. Biology of collagen-proteoglycan interaction. *Arch Histol Jpn*. 1983;46(5):589-629.
- 167. Berman ER, Michaelson IC. The Chemical Composition of the Human Vitreous Body as Related to Age and Myopia. *Exp Eye Res.* 1964;3:9-15.
- 168. Bishop P. The biochemical structure of mammalian vitreous. *Eye*. 1996;10:664-670.
- 169. Mains J, Wilson CG. The Vitreous Humor As a Barrier to Nanoparticle Distribution. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2012;00(0).
- 170. Bishop PN, Crossman M V, McLeod D, Ayad S. Extraction and characterization of the tissue forms of collagen types II and IX from bovine vitreous. *Biochem J*. 1994;299 (Pt 2:497-505.
- 171. Smith GN, Linsenmayer TF, Newsome D a. Synthesis of type II collagen in vitro by embryonic chick neural retina tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1976;73(12):4420-4423.
- 172. Ihanamäki T, Salminen H, Säämänen AM, et al. Age-dependent changes in the expression of matrix components in the mouse eye. *Exp Eye Res*. 2001;72(4):423-431.
- 173. Marshall GE, Konstas AG, Bechrakis NE, Lee WR. An immunoelectron microscope study of the aged human lens capsule. *Exp Eye Res.* 1992;54(3):393-401.
- 174. Tengroth B, Rehnberg M, Amitzboll T. A comparative analysis of the collagen type and distribution in the trabecular meshwork, sclera, lamina cribrosa and the optic nerve in the human eye. *Acta Ophthalmol Suppl (Oxf)*. 1985;173:91-93.
- 175. Newsome D, Gross J, Hassell J. Human corneal stroma contains three distinct collagens. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 1982;22(3):376-381.
- 176. Messmer EM, Valet VM, Kampik A. Differences in basement membrane zone components of normal conjunctiva, conjunctiva in glaucoma and normal skin. *Acta Ophthalmol.* 2012;90(6):e476-81.
- 177. Marshall G, Konstas A, Lee W. Collagens in ocular tissues. *Br J Ophthalmol.* 1993;77:515-524.
- 178. Los LI, Worp RJ van der, Luyn MJA van, Hooymans JMM. Presence of Collagen IV in the Ciliary Zonules of the Human Eye: An Immunohistochemical Study by LM and TEM. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 2004;52(6):789-795.
- 179. Konomi H, Hayashi T, Nakayasu K, Arima M. Localization of type V collagen and type

IV collagen in human cornea, lung, and skin. Immunohistochemical evidence by anticollagen antibodies characterized by immunoelectroblotting. *Am J Pathol.* 1984;116(3):417-426.

- 180. Takahashi T, Cho HI, Kublin CL, Cintron C. Keratan sulfate and dermatan sulfate proteoglycans associate with type VI collagen in fetal rabbit cornea. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 1993;41(10):1447-1457.
- 181. Wessel H, Anderson S, Fite D, Halvas E, Hempel J, SundarRaj N. Type XII collagen contributes to diversities in human corneal and limbal extracellular matrices. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 1997;38(11):2408-2422.
- 182. Cintron C, Hong B. Heterogeneity of Collagens in Rabbit Cornea: Type VI collagen. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 1988;29(5):760-766.
- 183. Bishop P, Ayad S, Reardon A, McLeod D, Sheehan J, Kielty C. Type VI collagen is present in human and bovine vitreous. *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*. 1996;234(11):710-713.
- 184. Tuori A, Uusitalo H, Burgeson RE, Terttunen J, Virtanen I. The immunohistochemical composition of the human corneal basement membrane. *Cornea*. 1996;15(3):286-294.
- 185. Ramesh S, Bonshek RE, Bishop PN. Immunolocalisation of opticin in the human eye. *Br J Ophthalmol.* 2004;88(5):697-702.
- 186. Myllyharju J, Kivirikko KI. Collagens and collagen-related diseases. *Ann Med*. 2001;33(1):7-21.
- 187. Bishop PN, Holmes DF, Kadler KE, McLeod D, Bos KJ. Age-Related Changes on the Surface of Vitreous Collagen Fibrils. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 2004;45(4):1041-1046.
- 188. Sugrue SP, Gordon MK, Seyer J, Dublet B, van der Rest M, Olsen BR. Immunoidentification of type XII collagen in embryonic tissues. *J Cell Biol*. 1989;109(2):939-945.
- 189. Sandberg-Lall M, Hägg PO, Wahlström I, Pihlajaniemi T. Type XIII collagen is widely expressed in the adult and developing human eye and accentuated in the ciliary muscle, the optic nerve and the neural retina. *Exp Eye Res.* 2000;70(4):401-410.
- 190. Lai CH, Chu ML. Tissue distribution and developmental expression of type XVI collagen in the mouse. *Tissue Cell*. 1996;28(2):155-164.
- 191. Ihanamäki T, Pelliniemi LJ, Vuorio E. Collagens and collagen-related matrix components in the human and mouse eye. *Prog Retin Eye Res*. 2004;23(4):403-434.
- 192. Koch M, Foley JE, Hahn R, et al. alpha 1(Xx) collagen, a new member of the collagen subfamily, fibril-associated collagens with interrupted triple helices. *J Biol Chem*. 2001;276(25):23120-23126.
- 193. Banyard J, Bao L, Zetter BR. Type XXIII collagen, a new transmembrane collagen identified in metastatic tumor cells. *J Biol Chem*. 2003;278(23):20989-20994.
- 194. Stewart MW, Rosenfeld PJ, Penha FM, et al. Pharmacokinetic rationale for dosing every 2 weeks versus 4 weeks with intravitreal ranibizumab, bevacizumab, and aflibercept (vascular endothelial growth factor Trap-eye). *Retina*. 2012;32(3):434-457.
- 195. Koch M, Laub F, Zhou P, et al. Collagen XXIV, a vertebrate fibrillar collagen with structural features of invertebrate collagens: selective expression in developing cornea and bone. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(44):43236-43244.
- 196. Durham DG. Distribution of free amino acids in human intraocular fluids. *Trans Am Ophthalmol Soc.* 1970;68:462-500.
- 197. Gaudana R, Ananthula HK, Parenky A, Mitra AK. Ocular drug delivery. AAPS J.

2010;12(3):348-360.

- 198. Pulido JE, Pulido JS, Erie JC, et al. A role for excitatory amino acids in diabetic eye disease. *Exp Diabetes Res*. 2007;2007:36150.
- 199. Keenan TDL, Clark SJ, Unwin RD, Ridge L a, Day AJ, Bishop PN. Mapping the differential distribution of proteoglycan core proteins in the adult human retina, choroid, and sclera. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2012;53(12):7528-7538.
- 200. Ali SAM, Hosaka YZ, Uehara M. Spatiotemporal distribution of chondroitin sulfate proteoglycans in the developing mouse retina and optic nerve. *J Vet Med Sci*. 2011;73(1):13-18.
- 201. Inatani M, Tanihara H. Proteoglycans in retina. *Prog Retin Eye Res*. 2002;21:429-447.
- 202. Inatani M, Honjo M, Otori Y, et al. Inhibitory effects of neurocan and phosphacan on neurite outgrowth from retinal ganglion cells in culture. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2001;42(8):1930-1938.
- 203. Popp S, Maurel P, Andersen JS, Margolis RU. Developmental changes of aggrecan, versican and neurocan in the retina and optic nerve. *Exp Eye Res*. 2004;79(3):351-356.
- 204. Reardon A, Heinegård D, McLeod D, Sheehan JK, Bishop PN. The large chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan versican in mammalian vitreous. *Matrix Biol*. 1998;17(5):325-333.
- 205. Noulas A V, Theocharis AD, Feretis E, Papageorgakopoulou N, Karamanos NK, Theocharis D a. Pig vitreous gel: macromolecular composition with particular reference to hyaluronan-binding proteoglycans. *Biochimie*. 2002;84(4):295-302.
- 206. Inatani M, Tanihara H, Honjo M, Hangai M, Kresse H, Honda Y. Expression of proteoglycan decorin in neural retina. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 1999;40(8):1783-1791.
- 207. Morrison JC, Rask P, Johnson EC, Deppmeier L. Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan distribution in the primate optic nerve head. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 1994;35(3):838-845.
- 208. Tsen G, Halfter W, Kröger S, Cole G. Agrin is a Heparin Sulfate Proteoglycan. *J Biol Chem*. 1995;270(7):3392-3399.
- 209. Chakravarti S, Paul J, Roberts L, Chervoneva I, Oldberg A, Birk DE. Ocular and Scleral Alterations in Gene-Targeted Lumican-Fibromodulin Double-Null Mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2003;44(6):2422-2432.
- 210. Corpuz LM, Funderburgh JL, Funderburgh ML, Bottomley GS, Prakash S, Conrad GW. Molecular Cloning and Tissue Distribution of Keratocan. *J Biol Chem*. 1996;271(16):9759-9763.
- 211. Lin H-J, Kung Y-J, Lin Y-J, et al. Association of the lumican gene functional 3'-UTR polymorphism with high myopia. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2010;51(1):96-102.
- 212. Balasubramani M, Schreiber EM, Candiello J, Balasubramani GK, Kurtz J, Halfter W. Molecular interactions in the retinal basement membrane system: a proteomic approach. *Matrix Biol*. 2010;29(6):471-483.
- 213. Gomes RR, Joshi SS, Farach-Carson MC, Carson DD. Ribozyme-mediated perlecan knockdown impairs chondrogenic differentiation of C3H10T1/2 fibroblasts. *Differentiation*. 2006;74(1):53-63.
- 214. Kokenyesi R, Bernfield M. Core Protein Structure and Sequence Determine the Site and Presence of Heparan Sulfate and Chondroitin Sulfate on Syndecan-I. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269(16):12304-12309.

- 215. Fraser JR, Laurent TC, Laurent UB. Hyaluronan: its nature, distribution, functions and turnover. *J Intern Med*. 1997;242(1):27-33.
- 216. Necas J, Bartosikova L, Brauner P, Kolar J. Hyaluronic acid (hyaluronan): A review. *Vet Med (Praha)*. 2008;53(8):397-411.
- 217. Umihira J, Nagata S, Nohara M, Hanai T, Usuda N, Segawa K. Localization of elastin in the normal and glaucomatous human trabecular meshwork. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 1994;35(2):486-494.
- 218. Kamma-Lorger CS, Boote C, Hayes S, et al. Collagen and mature elastic fibre organisation as a function of depth in the human cornea and limbus. *J Struct Biol*. 2010;169(3):424-430.
- 219. Lütjen-Drecoll E, Futa R, Rohen J. Ultrahistochemical studies on tangential sections of the trabecular meshwork in normal and glaucomatous eyes. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 1981;21(4):563-573.
- 220. Marinkovich MP, Lunstrum GP, Burgeson RE. The anchoring filament protein kalinin is synthesized and secreted as a high molecular weight precursor. *J Biol Chem*. 1992;267(25):17900-17906.
- 221. Qin P, Piechocki M, Lu S, Kurpakus M a. Localization of basement membraneassociated protein isoforms during development of the ocular surface of mouse eye. *Dev Dyn*. 1997;209(4):367-376.
- 222. May CA. Distribution of Nidogen in the Murine Eye and Ocular Phenotype of the Nidogen-1 Knockout Mouse. *ISRN Ophthalmol.* 2012;2012:1-6.
- 223. Endo K-I, Nakamura T, Kawasaki S, Kinoshita S. Human Amniotic Membrane, Like Corneal Epithelial Basement Membrane, Manifests the 5 Chain of Type IV Collagen. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2004;45(6):1771-1774.
- 224. Acharya S, Foletta VC, Lee JW, et al. SPACRCAN, a Novel Human Interphotoreceptor Matrix Hyaluronan-binding Proteoglycan Synthesized by Photoreceptors and Pinealocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275(10):6945-6955.
- 225. Mayne R, Ren Z, Liu J, Cook T. VIT-1: the second member of a new branch of the von Willebrand factor A domain superfamily. *Biochem Soc Trans*. 1999;27(6):832-835.
- 226. Grimshaw J, Trocha-Grimshaw J, Fisher W, et al. Quantitative analysis of hyaluronan in human synovial fluid using capillary electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis*. 1996;17(2):396-400.
- 227. Laurent UB, Granath KA. The molecular weight of hyaluronate in the aqueous humour and vitreous body of rabbit and cattle eyes. *Exp Eye Res.* 1983;36(4):481-492.
- 228. Sebag J. Ageing of the vitreous. *Eye*. 1987;1(2):254-262.
- 229. Kurisawa M, Chung JE, Yang YY, et al. Injectable biodegradable hydrogels composed of hyaluronic acid tyramine conjugates for drug delivery and tissue engineering. *Chem Commun*. 2005;53(34):4312.
- 230. Leach JB, Schmidt CE. Characterization of protein release from photocrosslinkable hyaluronic acid-polyethylene glycol hydrogel tissue engineering scaffolds. *Biomaterials*. 2005;26(2):125-135.
- 231. Kim MR, Park TG. Temperature-responsive and degradable hyaluronic acid/Pluronic composite hydrogels for controlled release of human growth hormone. *J Control Release*. 2002;80(1-3):69-77.
- 232. Gandhi NS, Mancera RL. The structure of glycosaminoglycans and their interactions with proteins. *Chem Biol Drug Des*. 2008;72(6):455-482.

- 233. Meral I, Bilgili Y. Diffusion changes in the vitreous humor of the eye during aging. *AJNR Am J Neuroradiol*. 2011;32(8):1563-1566.
- 234. Nickerson CS, Park J, Kornfield JA, Karageozian H. Rheological properties of the vitreous and the role of hyaluronic acid. *J Biomech*. 2008;41(9):1840-1846.
- 235. Sebag J. Age-related changes in human vitreous structure. *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol.* 1987;225:89-93.
- 236. Laurent TC, Ryan M, Pietruszkiewicz A. Fractionation of hyaluronic acid the polydispersity of hyaluronic acid from the bovine vitreous body. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1960;42(C):476-485.
- 237. Noulas A V, Skandalis SS, Feretis E, Theocharis D a, Karamanos NK. Variations in content and structure of glycosaminoglycans of the vitreous gel from different mammalian species. *Biomed Chromatogr.* 2004;18(7):457-461.
- 238. Pakulska MM, Miersch S, Shoichet MS. Designer protein delivery: From natural to engineered affinity-controlled release systems. *Science*. 2016;351(6279):aac4750.
- 239. Vulic K, Shoichet MS. Affinity-based drug delivery systems for tissue repair and regeneration. *Biomacromolecules*. 2014;15(11):3867-3880.
- 240. Delplace V, Ortin-Martinez A, Tsai ELS, Amin AN, Wallace V, Shoichet MS. Controlled release strategy designed for intravitreal protein delivery to the retina. *J Control Release*. 2019;293(November 2018):10-20.
- 241. Bu SC, Kuijer R, Van Der Worp RJ, Li XR, Hooymans JMM, Los LI. The ultrastructural localization of type II, IV, and VI collagens at the vitreoretinal interface. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(7):1-23.
- 242. Gelse K, Pöschl E, Aigner T. Collagens Structure, function, and biosynthesis. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* 2003;55(12):1531-1546.
- 243. Balazs EA, Laurent TC, Laurent UB. Studies on the structure of the vitreous body. VI. Biochemical changes during development. *J Biol Chem.* 1959;234(2):422-430.
- 244. Swann DA, Constable IJ. Vitreous structure. I. Distribution of hyaluronate and protein. *Invest Ophthalmol.* 1972;11(3):159-163.
- 245. Milston R, Madigan MC, Sebag J. Vitreous floaters: Etiology, diagnostics, and management. *Surv Ophthalmol*. 2016;61(2):211-227.
- 246. Bond-Taylor M, Jakobsson G, Zetterberg M. Posterior vitreous detachment -Prevalence of and risk factors for retinal tears. *Clin Ophthalmol.* 2017;11:1689-1695.
- 247. Ponsioen TL, Hooymans JMM, Los LI. Remodelling of the human vitreous and vitreoretinal interface--a dynamic process. *Prog Retin Eye Res.* 2010;29(6):580-595.
- 248. Kleinberg TT, Tzekov RT, Stein L, Ravi N, Kaushal S. Vitreous Substitutes: A Comprehensive Review. *Surv Ophthalmol.* 2011;56(4):300-323.
- 249. Shafaie S, Hutter V, Brown MB, Cook MT, Chau DYS. Diffusion through the ex vivo vitreal body Bovine, porcine, and ovine models are poor surrogates for the human vitreous. *Int J Pharm*. 2018;550(1-2):207-215.
- 250. Tan LE, Orilla W, Hughes PM, Tsai S, Burke JA, Wilson CG. Effects of vitreous liquefaction on the intravitreal distribution of sodium fluorescein, fluorescein dextran, and fluorescent microparticles. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2011;52(2):1111-1118.
- Awwad S, Lockwood A, Brocchini S, Khaw PT. The PK-Eye: A Novel In Vitro Ocular Flow Model for Use in Preclinical Drug Development. *J Pharm Sci.* 2015;104(10):3330-3342.
- 252. Kummer MP, Abbott JJ, Dinser S, Nelson BJ. Artificial vitreous humor for in vitro

experiments. Conf Proc Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc. 2007;2007:6407-6410.

- 253. Suri S, Banerjee R. Biophysical Evaluation of Vitreous Humor, Its Constituents and Substitutes. *Trends Biomater Artif Organs*. 2006;20(1):72-77.
- 254. Baino F. Towards an ideal biomaterial for vitreous replacement: Historical overview and future trends. *Acta Biomater*. 2011;7(3):921-935.
- 255. Licina A, Sidhu S, Xie J, Wan C. Local versus general anaesthesia for adults undergoing pars plana vitrectomy surgery. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;2016(9).
- 256. Williams GA. 25-, 23-, or 20-Gauge Instrumentation for Vitreous Surgery? *Eye*. 2008;22(10):1263-1266.
- 257. Lee SS, Ghosn C, Yu Z, et al. Vitreous VEGF clearance is increased after vitrectomy. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2010;51(4):2135-2138.
- 258. Doft BH, Weiskopf J, Nilsson-Ehle I, Wingard LB. Amphotericin clearance in vitrectomized versus nonvitrectomized eyes. *Ophthalmology*. 1985;92(11):1601-1605.
- 259. Mandell BA, Meredith TA, Aguilar E, El-Massry A, Sawant A, Gardner S. Effects of Inflammation and Surgery on Amikacin Levels in the Vitreous Cavity. *Am J Ophthalmol*. 1993;115(6):770-774.
- 260. Aguilar HE, Meredith T a, El-Massry A, et al. Vancomycin levels after intravitreal injection. Effects of inflammation and surgery. *Retina*. 1995;15(5):428-432.
- 261. Coco RM, López MI, Pastor JC, Nozal MJ. Pharmacokinetics of intravitreal vancomycin in normal and infected rabbit eyes. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 1998;14(6):555-563.
- 262. Jarus G, Blumenkranz M, Hernandez E, Sossi N. Clearance of Intravitreal Fluorouracil. *Ophthalmology*. 1985;92(1):91-96.
- 263. Christoforidis JB, Williams MM, Wang J, et al. Anatomic and pharmacokinetic properties of intravitreal bevacizumab and ranibizumab after vitrectomy and lensectomy. *Retina*. 2013;33(5):946-952.
- 264. National Eye Institute. National Eye Institute. https://www.flickr.com/photos/nationaleyeinstitute/albums/72157646829197286.
- 265. Kakinoki M, Sawada O, Sawada T, Saishin Y, Kawamura H, Ohji M. Effect of vitrectomy on aqueous VEGF concentration and pharmacokinetics of bevacizumab in macaque monkeys. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci*. 2012;53(9):5877-5880.
- 266. Rosenfeld PJ, Brown DM, Heier JS, et al. Ranibizumab for Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *N Engl J Med*. 2006;355(14):1419-1431.
- 267. Brown DM, Michels M, Kaiser PK, Heier JS, Sy JP, Ianchulev T. Ranibizumab versus Verteporfin Photodynamic Therapy for Neovascular Age-Related Macular Degeneration: Two-Year Results of the ANCHOR Study. *Ophthalmology*. 2009;116(1):57-65.e5.
- 268. Nguyen QD, Brown DM, Marcus DM, et al. Ranibizumab for diabetic macular edema: Results from 2 phase iii randomized trials: RISE and RIDE. *Ophthalmology*. 2012;119(4):789-801.
- 269. García-Quintanilla L, Luaces-Rodríguez A, Gil-Martínez M, et al. Pharmacokinetics of Intravitreal Anti-VEGF Drugs in Age-Related Macular Degeneration. *Pharmaceutics*. 2019;11(8):365.
- 270. Laugesen CS, Ostri C, Brynskov T, et al. Intravitreal ranibizumab for diabetic macular oedema in previously vitrectomized eyes. *Acta Ophthalmol.* 2017;95(1):28-32.
- 271. Yanyali A, Aytug B, Horozoglu F, Nohutcu AF. Bevacizumab (Avastin) for Diabetic

Macular Edema in Previously Vitrectomized Eyes. *Am J Ophthalmol*. 2007;144(1):124-126.

- 272. Hellinen L, Hagström M, Knuutila H, Ruponen M, Urtti A, Reinisalo M. Characterization of artificially re-pigmented ARPE-19 retinal pigment epithelial cell model. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):1-10.
- 273. Pelkonen L, Tengvall-Unadike U, Ruponen M, et al. Melanin binding study of clinical drugs with cassette dosing and rapid equilibrium dialysis inserts. *Eur J Pharm Sci.* 2017;109(July):162-168.
- 274. Bustamante J, Bredeston L, Malanga G, Mordoh J. Role of melanin as a scavenger of active oxygen species. *Pigment cell Res.* 1993;6(5):348-353.
- 275. Durairaj C, Chastain JE, Kompella UB. Intraocular distribution of melanin in human, monkey, rabbit, minipig and dog eyes. *Exp Eye Res*. 2012;98(C):23-27.
- 276. Menon IA, Wakeham DC, Persad SD, Avaria M, Trope GE, Basu PK. Quantitative determination of the melanin contents in ocular tissues from human blue and brown eyes. *J Ocul Pharmacol*. 1992;8(1):35-42.
- 277. Robbie SJ, Lundh von Leithner P, Ju M, et al. Assessing a novel depot delivery strategy for noninvasive administration of VEGF/PDGF RTK inhibitors for ocular neovascular disease. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2013;54(2):1490-1500.
- 278. Pitkänen L, Ranta VP, Moilanen H, Urtti A. Permeability of retinal pigment epithelium: Effects of permeant molecular weight and lipophilicity. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2005;46(2):641-646.
- 279. Cheruvu NPS, Amrite AC, Kompella UB. Effect of Eye Pigmentation on Transscleral Drug Delivery. *Invest Ophthalmol.* 2008;49(1):333-341.
- 280. Potts AM. The reaction of uveal pigment in vitro with polycyclic compounds. *Invest Ophthalmol*. 1964;3:405-416.
- 281. Rimpelä AK, Hagström M, Kidron H, Urtti A. Melanin targeting for intracellular drug delivery: Quantification of bound and free drug in retinal pigment epithelial cells. *J Control Release*. 2018;283(March):261-268.
- 282. Schroeder RL, Gerber JP. Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine binding to melanin: Some possible consequences for pathologies. *Toxicol Reports*. 2014;1:963-968.
- 283. Hobbs HE, Sorsby A, Freedman A. Retinopathy following chloroquine therapy. *Lancet*. 1959;274(7101):478-480.
- 284. Dayhaw-barker P. Retinal Pigment Epithelium Melanin and Ocular Toxicity. Int J Toxicol. 2002;21:451-454.
- 285. Salazar M, Patil PN. An explanation for the long duration of mydriatic effect of atropine in eye. *Invest Ophthalmol.* 1976;15(8):671-673.
- 286. Urtti A, Salminen L, Kujari H, Jantti V. Effect of ocular pigmentation on pilocarpine pharmacology in the rabbit eye. II. Drug response. *Int J Pharm*. 1984;19(1):53-61.
- 287. Varela-Fernández R, Díaz-Tomé V, Luaces-Rodríguez A, et al. Drug Delivery to the Posterior Segment of the Eye: Biopharmaceutic and Pharmacokinetic Considerations. *Pharmaceutics*. 2020;12(3):87-101.
- 288. Lan W, Weiguang Z, Liang R, Qian L, Liang L. Comparative Study of Two Vitreous Humor Sampling Methods in Rabbits. *J Huazhong Univ Sci Technol*. 2006;26(4):475-477.
- 289. Macha S, Mitra AK. Ocular pharmacokinetics in rabbits using a novel dual probe microdialysis technique. *Exp Eye Res*. 2001;72(3):289-299.

- 290. Anand BS, Atluri H, Mitra AK. Validation of an ocular microdialysis technique in rabbits with permanently implanted vitreous probes: systemic and intravitreal pharmacokinetics of fluorescein. *Int J Pharm.* 2004;281(1-2):79-88.
- 291. Giansanti F, Ramazzotti M, Giuntoli M, et al. Intravitreal infliximab clearance in a rabbit model: different sampling methods and assay techniques. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2009;50(11):5328-5335.
- 292. Macha S, Mitra AK. Ocular pharmacokinetics of cephalosporins using microdialysis. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2001;17(5):485-498.
- 293. Unal M, Peyman G a, Liang C, et al. Ocular toxicity of intravitreal clarithromycin. *Retina*. 1999;19(5):442-446.
- 294. Waga J, Nilsson-Ehle I, Ljungberg B, Skarin A, Stahle L, Ehinger B. Microdialysis for Pharmacokinetic Studies of Ceftazidime in Rabbit Vitreous. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 1999;15(5):455-463.
- 295. Shankar G, Shores E, Wagner C, Mire-Sluis A. Scientific and regulatory considerations on the immunogenicity of biologics. *Trends Biotechnol*. 2006;24(6):274-280.
- 296. Gebauer M, Skerra A. Engineered protein scaffolds as next-generation antibody therapeutics. *Curr Opin Chem Biol*. 2009;13(3):245-255.
- 297. Brinch KS, Frimodt-Møller N, Høiby N, Kristensen H-H. Influence of antidrug antibodies on plectasin efficacy and pharmacokinetics. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2009;53(11):4794-4800.
- 298. Adamson P, Wilde T, Dobrzynski E, et al. Single ocular injection of a sustained-release anti-VEGF delivers 6 months pharmacokinetics and efficacy in a primate laser CNV model. *J Control Release*. 2016;244:1-13.
- 299. van Beers MMC, Sauerborn M, Gilli F, Brinks V, Schellekens H, Jiskoot W. Aggregated recombinant human interferon Beta induces antibodies but no memory in immune-tolerant transgenic mice. *Pharm Res.* 2010;27(9):1812-1824.
- Baarsma GS, Luyendijk L, Kijlstra A, et al. Analysis of Local Antibody Productionin the Vitreous Humor of Patients With Severe Uveitis. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 1991;112(2):147-150.
- 301. Hornof M, Toropainen E, Urtti A. Cell culture models of the ocular barriers. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. 2005;60(2):207-225.
- 302. Emami J. In vitro in vivo correlation: from theory to applications. *J Pharm Pharm Sci.* 2006;9(2):169-189.
- 303. Deng F, Ranta VP, Kidron H, Urtti A. General Pharmacokinetic Model for Topically Administered Ocular Drug Dosage Forms. *Pharm Res.* 2016;56:1-11.
- 304. Tegtmeyer S, Papantoniou I, Müller-Goymann CC. Reconstruction of an in vitro cornea and its use for drug permeation studies from different formulations containing pilocarpine hydrochloride. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. 2001;51(2):119-125.
- 305. Shafaie S, Hutter V, Cook MT, Brown MB, Chau DYS. *In Vitro* Cell Models for Ophthalmic Drug Development Applications. *Biores Open Access*. 2016;5(1):94-108.
- 306. Missel P, Chastain J, Mitra A, et al. In vitro transport and partitioning of AL-4940, active metabolite of angiostatic agent anecortave acetate, in ocular tissues of the posterior segment. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 2010;26(2):137-146.
- 307. Fotaki N, Reppas C. The Flow Through Cell Methodology in the Evaluation of Intralumenal Drug Release Characteristics. *Dissolution Technol*. 2005;12(2):17-21.
- 308. Fotaki N. Flow-through cell apparatus (USP Apparatus 4): Operation and features.

Dissolution Technol. 2011;18(4):46-49.

- 309. Uddin R, Saffoon N, Bishwajit S. Dissolution and dissolution apparatus: a review. *Int J Curr Biomed Pharm Res.* 2011;1(4):201-207.
- 310. Shohin IE, Grebenkin DY, Malashenko EA, Stanishevskii YM, Ramenskaya G V. A brief review of the FDA dissolution methods database. *Dissolution Technol*. 2016;23(3):6-10.
- Zhou MX, Shoudt D, Calderon G, Feng M. Application of USP apparatus 7 to in vitro drug release in scopolamine transdermal systems. *Dissolution Technol.* 2007;14(2):25-29.
- 312. Goel M, Picciani RG, Lee RK, Bhattacharya SK. Aqueous humor dynamics: a review. *Open Ophthalmol J.* 2010;4:52-59.
- 313. Radenbaugh PA, Goyal A, McLaren NC, et al. Concordance of aqueous humor flow in the morning and at night in normal humans. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2006;47(11):4860-4864.
- 314. Hutton-Smith LA, Gaffney EA, Byrne HM, Maini PK, Gadkar K, Mazer NA. Ocular Pharmacokinetics of Therapeutic Antibodies Given by Intravitreal Injection: Estimation of Retinal Permeabilities Using a 3-Compartment Semi-Mechanistic Model. *Mol Pharm.* 2017;14(8):2690-2696.
- 315. Pepić I, Lovrić J, Cetina-Čižmek B, Reichl S, Filipović-Grčić J. Toward the practical implementation of eye-related bioavailability prediction models. *Drug Discov Today*. 2014;19(1):31-44.
- 316. Hayreh SS. Posterior Drainage of the Intraocular Fluid from the Vitreous. *Exp Eye Res*. 1966;5:123-144.
- 317. WS D-E. The nature of the vitreous body, Monograph supplement IV. *Br J Ophthalmol*. 1930;Monograph.
- 318. Fowlks WL. Meridional flow from the corona ciliaris through the pararetinal zone of the rabbit vitreous. *Invest Ophthalmol*. 1963;2:63-71.
- 319. Kompella UB, Edelhauser HF. *Drug Product Development for the Back of the Eye*. Vol 2. (Kompella UB, Edelhauser HF, eds.). Boston, MA: Springer US; 2011.
- 320. Scholes GN, O'Brien WJ, Abrams GW, Kubicek MF. Clearance of triamcinolone from vitreous. *Arch Ophthalmol (Chicago, III 1960)*. 1985;103(10):1567-1569.
- 321. Xu J, Heys JJ, Barocas VH, Randolph TW. Permeability and diffusion in vitreous humor: implications for drug delivery. *Pharm Res.* 2000;17(6):664-669.
- 322. Modareszadeh A, Abouali O, Ghaffarieh A, Ahmadi G. Saccade movements effect on the intravitreal drug delivery in vitreous substitutes: a numerical study. *Biomech Model Mechanobiol.* 2013;12(2):281-290.
- 323. Park J, Bungay P, Lutz R. Evaluation of coupled convective–diffusive transport of drugs administered by intravitreal injection and controlled release implant. *J Control release*. 2005;105(3):279-295.
- 324. Stay MS, Xu J, Randolph TW, Barocas VH. Computer simulation of convective and diffusive transport of controlled-release drugs in the vitreous humor. *Pharm Res.* 2003;20(1):96-102.
- 325. Repetto R, Stocchino A, Cafferata C. Experimental investigation of vitreous humour motion within a human eye model. *Phys Med Biol*. 2005;50(19):4729-4743.
- 326. Stocchino A, Repetto R, Cafferata C. Eye rotation induced dynamics of a Newtonian fluid within the vitreous cavity: the effect of the chamber shape. *Phys Med Biol.*

2007;52(7):2021-2034.

- 327. Missel PJ. Simulating Intravitreal Injections in Anatomically Accurate Models for Rabbit, Monkey, and Human Eyes. *Pharm Res.* 2012;29(12):3251-3272.
- 328. Henein C, Awwad S, Ibeanu N, et al. Hydrodynamics of Intravitreal Injections into Liquid Vitreous Substitutes. *Pharmaceutics*. 2019;11(8):371.
- 329. Stay M, Xu J, Randolph T, Barocas V. Computer simulation of convective and diffusive transport of controlled-release drugs in the vitreous humor. *Pharm Res.* 2003;20(1):96-102.
- Loch C, Nagel S, Guthoff R, Seidlitz A, Weitschies W. The Vitreous Model a new in vitro test method simulating the vitreous body Model characterization. 2012;57:281-284.
- 331. Loch C, Bogdahn M, Stein S, et al. Simulation of drug distribution in the vitreous body after local drug application into intact vitreous body and in progress of posterior vitreous detachment. *J Pharm Sci.* 2013;103(2):517-526.
- 332. Patel S, Müller G, Stracke JO, Altenburger U, Mahler H-C, Jere D. Evaluation of protein drug stability with vitreous humor in a novel ex-vivo intraocular model. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm*. 2015;95:407-417.
- 333. Awwad S, Day RM, Khaw PT, Brocchini S, Fadda HM. Sustained release ophthalmic dexamethasone: In vitro in vivo correlations derived from the PK-Eye. *Int J Pharm.* 2017;522(1-2):119-127.
- 334. Baskakova A, Awwad S, Jiménez JQ, et al. Electrospun formulations of acyclovir, ciprofloxacin and cyanocobalamin for ocular drug delivery. *Int J Pharm*. 2016;502(1-2):208-218.
- 335. Goel VK, Nyman E. Computational modeling and finite element analysis. *Spine (Phila Pa 1976)*. 2016;41(7):S6-S7.
- 336. Guidance for Industry--- Exposure-Response Relationships --- Study Design, Data Analysis, and Regulatory Applications.; 2003.
- 337. Friedrich S, Saville B, Cheng Y-L. Drug Distribution in the Vitreous Humor of the Human Eye: The Effects of Aphakia and Changes in Retinal Permeability and Vitreous Diffusivity. *J Ocul Pharmacol Ther*. 1997;13(5):445-459.
- 338. Kathawate J, Acharya S. Computational modeling of intravitreal drug delivery in the vitreous chamber with different vitreous substitutes. *Int J Heat Mass Transf.* 2008;51(23-24):5598-5609.
- 339. Zhang Y, Bazzazi H, Lima E Silva R, et al. Three-Dimensional Transport Model for Intravitreal and Suprachoroidal Drug Injection. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2018;59(12):5266-5276.
- 340. Causin P, Malgaroli F. Mathematical assessment of drug build-up in the posterior eye following transscleral delivery. *J Math Ind*. 2016;6(1):9.
- 341. Kim H, Lizak MJ, Tansey G, et al. Study of ocular transport of drugs released from an intravitreal implant using magnetic resonance imaging. *Ann Biomed Eng.* 2005;33(2):150-164.
- 342. Tojo K, Isowaki A. Pharmacokinetic model for in vivo/in vitro correlation of intravitreal drug delivery. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*. 2001;52(1):17-24.
- 343. Tojo K. A pharmacokinetic model for ocular drug delivery. *Chem Pharm Bull (Tokyo)*. 2004;52(11):1290-1294.
- 344. Raju JR, Weinberg D V. Accuracy and precision of intraocular injection volume. Am J

Ophthalmol. 2002;133(4):564-566.

- 345. Aiello LP, Brucker AJ, Chang S, et al. Evolving guidelines for intravitreous injections. *Retina*. 2004;24(5 Suppl):S3-19.
- 346. Friedland A. A hydrodynamic model of aqueous flow in the posterior chamber of the eye. *Bull Math Biol.* 1978;40(2):223-235.
- 347. Kim JE, Mantravadi A V., Hur EY, Covert DJ. Short-term Intraocular Pressure Changes Immediately After Intravitreal Injections of Anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Agents. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2008;146(6):930-934.
- 348. Hubschman J-P, Coffee RE, Bourges J-L, Yu F, Schwartz SD. Experimental model of intravitreal injection techniques. *Retina*. 2010;30(1):167-173.
- 349. Thrimawithana T, Young S, Bunt C. Drug delivery to the posterior segment of the eye. *Drug Discov Today*. 2011;16(5-6):270-277.
- 350. Jooybar E, Abdekhodaie MJ, Farhadi F, Cheng Y-L. Computational modeling of drug distribution in the posterior segment of the eye: effects of device variables and positions. *Math Biosci*. 2014;255:11-20.
- 351. Liebsch M, Grune B, Seiler A, et al. Alternatives to animal testing: Current status and future perspectives. *Arch Toxicol*. 2011;85(8):841-858.
- 352. Home Office GB. Statistics of Scientific P Rocedur Es on Living Animals Great Britain 2011.; 2011.
- 353. Clemence M, Leaman J. *Public Attitudes to Animal Research in 2016.*; 2016. http://www.ipsos-mori.com/terms.
- 354. Ipsos. *Public Attitudes to Animal Research in 2018.*; 2018. http://www.ipsos-mori.com/.
- 355. NC3Rs. Animals in drug discovery and development. https://www.nc3rs.org.uk/animals-drug-discovery-and-development.
- 356. Robinson S, Delongeas JL, Donald E, et al. A European pharmaceutical company initiative challenging the regulatory requirement for acute toxicity studies in pharmaceutical drug development. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol*. 2008;50(3):345-352.
- 357. International Conference on Harmonisation (ICH). ICH M3 (R2) Non-clinical Safety studies for the conduct of human clinical trials and marketing authorisation for pharmaceuticals. *Guideline*. 2009;3(R2):31. http://www.ich.org/products/guidelines/multidisciplinary/article/multidisciplinary-guidelines.html.
- 358. ICH. International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH). http://www.ich.org/products/guidelines/safety/safety-single/article/guidance-onnonclinical-safety-studies-for-the-conduct-of-human-clinical-trials-and-marketingauthor.html.
- 359. Chapman K, Adjei A, Baldrick P, et al. Waiving in vivo studies for monoclonal antibody biosimilar development: National and global challenges. *MAbs*. 2016;8(3):427-435.
- 360. Vidal JM, Kawabata TT, Thorpe R, et al. In vitro cytokine release assays for predicting cytokine release syndrome: The current state-of-the-science. Report of a European Medicines Agency Workshop. *Cytokine*. 2010;51(2):213-215.
- 361. Stokes WS. Animals and the 3Rs in toxicology research and testing. *Hum Exp Toxicol*. 2015;34(12):1297-1303.
- 362. Burden N, Chapman K, Sewell F, Robinson V. Pioneering better science through the

3Rs: An introduction to the National Centre for the Replacement, Refinement, and Reduction of Animals in Research (NC3Rs). *J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci.* 2015;54(2):198-208.

- 363. MacArthur Clark J. The 3Rs in research: A contemporary approach to replacement, reduction and refinement. *Br J Nutr*. 2018;120(s1):S1-S7.
- 364. Aban IB, George B. Statistical considerations for preclinical studies. *Exp Neurol*. 2015;270:82-87.
- 365. Sertkaya A, Wong HH, Jessup A, Beleche T. Key cost drivers of pharmaceutical clinical trials in the United States. *Clin Trials*. 2016;13(2):117-126.
- 366. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. Drugs@FDA: FDA Approved Drug Products. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cder/daf/index.cfm.
- 367. Centre for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), FDA Pharmacology Review for BLA Application 125156.; 2006.
- 368. Centre for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), FDA Pharmacology Review for BLA Application 125387.; 2011. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2010/022368Orig1s000PharmR .pdf.
- 369. Thulliez M, Angoulvant D, Le Lez ML, et al. Cardiovascular events and bleeding risk associated with intravitreal antivascular endothelial growth factor monoclonal antibodies: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2014;132(11):1317-1326.
- 370. Hirano T, Toriyama Y, Iesato Y, Imai A, Murata T. Changes in Plasma Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Level After Intravitreal Injection of Bevacizumab, Aflibercept, or Ranibizumab for Diabetic Macular Edema. *Retina*. 2018;38(9):1801-1808.
- Csaky K, Do D V. Safety Implications of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Blockade for Subjects Receiving Intravitreal Anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Therapies. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2009;148(5):647-656.
- 372. Avery RL, Gordon GM. Systemic safety of prolonged monthly anti-vascular endothelial growth factor therapy for diabetic macular edema: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *JAMA Ophthalmol*. 2016;134(1):21-29.
- 373. Yashkin AP, Hahn P, Sloan FA. Introducing Anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Therapies for AMD Did Not Raise Risk of Myocardial Infarction, Stroke, and Death. *Ophthalmology*. 2016;123(10):2225-2231.
- 374. Centre for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), FDA Medical Review for NDA022315.; 2009.
- 375. Centre for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), FDA Medical Review for 2014. NDA201932.; 2014. https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/drugsatfda_docs/nda/2015/125559Orig1s000MedR.p df.
- 376. Couch SM, Bakri SJ. Intravitreal triamcinolone for intraocular inflammation and associated macular edema. *Clin Ophthalmol*. 2009;3:41-47.
- 377. Spitzer MS, Mlynczak T, Schultheiss M, et al. Preservative-free triamcinolone acetonide injectable suspension versus "traditional" triamcinolone preparations: impact of aggregate size on retinal biocompatibility. *Retina*. 2011;31(10):2050-2057.
- 378. Mehta H, Gillies M, Fraser-Bell S. Perspective on the role of Ozurdex (dexamethasone intravitreal implant) in the management of diabetic macular oedema. *Ther Adv Chronic Dis.* 2015;6(5):234-245.

- 379. Sarao V, Veritti D, Boscia F, Lanzetta P. Intravitreal steroids for the treatment of retinal diseases. *Sci World J*. 2014;2014.
- 380. Palmer JM, Amoaku WM, Kamali F. Quality of bevacizumab compounded for intravitreal administration. *Eye (Lond)*. 2013;27(9):1090-1097.
- 381. Bakri SJ, Larson TA, Edwards AO. Intraocular inflammation following intravitreal injection of bevacizumab. *Graefe's Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol*. 2008;246(5):779-781.
- 382. Artunay O, Yuzbasioglu E, Rasier R, Sengül A, Bahcecioglu H. Incidence and management of acute endophthalmitis after intravitreal bevacizumab (Avastin) injection. *Eye*. 2009;23(12):2187-2193.
- 383. Yamashiro K, Tsujikawa A, Miyamoto K, et al. Sterile endophthalmitis after intravitreal injection of bevacizumab obtained from a single batch. *Retina*. 2010;30(3):485-490.
- 384. Ness T, Feltgen N, Agostini H, Böhringer D, Lubrich B. Toxic vitreitis outbreak after intravitreal injection. *Retina*. 2010;30(2):332-338.
- 385. Goldberg RA, Flynn HW, Isom RF, Miller D, Gonzalez S. An outbreak of streptococcus endophthalmitis after intravitreal injection of bevacizumab. *Am J Ophthalmol.* 2012;153(2):204-208.e1.
- 386. Bakri SJ, Ekdawi NS. Intravitreal silicone oil droplets after intravitreal drug injections. *Retina*. 2008;28(7):996-1001.
- 387. Khurana RN, Chang LK, Porco TC. Incidence of presumed silicone oil droplets in the vitreous cavity after intravitreal bevacizumab injection with insulin syringes. *JAMA Ophthalmol.* 2017;135(7):800-803.
- 388. Yu JH, Gallemore E, Kim JK, Patel R, Calderon J, Gallemore RP. Silicone oil droplets following intravitreal bevacizumab injections. *Am J Ophthalmol Case Reports*. 2018;10:142-144.
- 389. Schargus M, Werner BP, Geerling G, Winter G. Contamination of anti-VEGF drugs for intravitreal injection how do repackaging and newly developed syringes affect the amount of silicone oil droplets and protein aggregates? *Retina*. 2018;38(10):2088-2095.
- 390. Liu L, Ammar DA, Ross LA, Mandava N, Kahook MY, Carpenter JF. Silicone oil microdroplets and protein aggregates in repackaged bevacizumab and ranibizumab: Effects of long-term storage and product mishandling. *Investig Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2011;52(2):1023-1034.
- 391. Poku E, Rathbone J, Everson-Hock E, et al. *Bevacizumab in Eye Conditions: Issues Related to Quality, Use, Efficacy and Safety.*; 2012.
- 392. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Food and Drug Administration, Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER), Center for Biologics Evaluation and Research (CBER). *Mixing*, *Diluting*, *or Repackaging Biological Products Outside the Scope of an Approved Biologics License Application. Guidance for Industry*.; 2018.
- 393. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. A case of hemorrhagic occlusive retinal vasculitis (HORV) following intraocular injections of a compounded triamcinolone, moxifloxacin, and vancomycin formulation. https://www.fda.gov/Drugs/GuidanceComplianceRegulatoryInformation/PharmacyCo mpounding/ucm578514.htm. Published 2017.
- 394. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. *FDA Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDER). Nonclinical Safety Evaluation of Reformulated Drug Products and Products Intended for Administration by an Alternate Route. Guidance for Industry and Review Staff.;* 2015.

https://www.fda.gov/drugs/guidancecomplianceregulatoryinformation/guidances/ucm0

65014.htm.

Graphical abstract



59